
Annual Report 2009

Annual Report 2009



Vision
Become a regional Master Developer of Mega Com-
munities (resort / residential / industrial / agricul-
tural) by designing and implementing a world class 
Master Designed, Developed and Controlled Com-
munity Standard, with the aim of redefining Egyp-
tian urban planning, from every aspect of the world’s 
best international communities and developments.

Mission
Make our shareholders proud of the company’s 
standards, reputation, operational and financial per-
formance. Equally, make our stakeholders proud of 
their association with ERC.
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largest company in 
Egypt in terms of volume 

traded in 2009 
(780 mil. shares)

largest company in 
Egypt in terms of value 

traded in 2009 
(EGP 1.8 billion)

largest Market 
Capitalization on 
the EGX in 2009

4th 15th 48th

Shareholder Structure*:
• Misr Insurance (15.00%) 

• KATO Investment (11.96%) 

• Rowad Tourism Company (10.00%) 

• First Arabian Company (10.00%) 

• Al Ahly Capital Holding (8.99%) 

• Orascom Development Holding (4.50%)  

• Other long-term investors (9.47%) 

• Free Float (30.08%)

*As of end of second quarter 2010

ERC at a Glance

Sahl Hasheesh at a Glance

Location and Size
•	 	18	km	south	of	Hurghada	International	Airport
•	 	22	km	south	of	Hurghada	City	Centre
•	 500	km	from	Cairo
•	 	41	million	m²	/	10,000	acres	/	4,100	hectares
•	 	Approximately	two-thirds	the	size	of	Manhattan

Unique Characteristics
•	 	An	all	sea-view	resort	—	Land	elevations	range	from	

sea level to 120 meters above sea level at the back 
of the resort (almost 40 stories high)

•	 12.5	km	bay
•	 9	km	of	swimmable	beach
•	 	Year-round	destination	with	moderate	to	hot	

weather with low humidity and calm waters

 ERC creates value for 
its sub-developers and 

promotes a unique 
end-user experience.

 ERC derives 
revenues from three 

clear streams: land plot 
sales, utilities and 

community management 
fees and development 

and operation of strate-
gic one-off and recurring 

revenue assets.

ERC is Egypt’s leading 
master developer of 
mega-communities.

 Legal Structure 
Egyptian Public Joint Stock Company

Listing 
Egyptian Exchange (EGX)

Authorized Capital 
EGP 2 billion

Paid-in-Capital 
EGP 1.05 billion

Par Value 
EGP 1.00

Fiscal Year 
Ends December 31

ERC Tax Structure 
10-year tax exemption ended 2007

Subsidiaries 
Sahl Hasheesh Co. (SHC) – 69.4% owned by ERC

 SHC Tax Structure 
10-year tax exemption ending 2017

Employees 
145

11.96%

10.00%

10.00%

8.99%4.50%

9.47%

30.08%

10.00%4.50%
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Dear Shareholders,

It is an honor to join Egyptian 
Resorts Company as Chairman 
of the Board. I follow in the 
footsteps of Dr. Ibrahim Kamel, 
whose enlightened leadership 
over the course of more than a 
dozen	years	at	the	helm	helped	
create today’s ERC.

Under Dr. Kamel’s guidance, our 
flagship project, Sahl Hasheesh 
International Resort Commu-
nity has become a fully-func-
tional destination and is on its 

way to becoming Egypt’s best-planned and -man-
aged integrated resort city. Indeed, 2010-11 will mark 
an important transformation at Sahl Hasheesh as it 
moves toward becoming a true year-round commu-
nity with the launch of the Old Town and the start of 
work on Phase III, the details of which you will learn in 
these pages and on our corporate and resort websites 
(www.erc-egypt.com / www.sahlhasheesh.com). 

As	 I	 write	 these	 words,	 our	 executive	 team	 is	 par-
ticularly focused on the development of the Sahl 
Hasheesh Marina; attracting prospective restaurant, 
retail and service-provider tenants to bring the Old 
Town waterfront to life; and Phase III planning. With 
assistance from a top global master-planning con-
sultancy, Phase III will triple the number of residen-
tial units planned in Phases I and II and introduce 
hospitals, schools, office buildings and SMEs, trans-
forming the development into a thriving year-round 
community. 

Moreover, the new management team for Sahl 
Hasheesh Company (SHC) is developing dedicated 
marketing programs to build its profile (targeting 
both business partners and end-consumers) to cre-
ate significant new value for shareholders over the 
coming years. In this respect, ladies and gentlemen, 
I note that we are now approaching the point at 
which ERC will begin deriving proportionately more 
of its Sahl Hasheesh revenues not from one-off land 
sales, but from important recurring revenue streams, 
including community management fees and the sale 
of utilities.

ERC has accomplished much since its inception, and 
we have remained healthy both operationally and 
financially through a difficult period that has seen 
fallout from the global financial crisis spill over into 
our	 market	 —	 a	 development	 that	 has	 prompted	
management to refrain from closing significant 
land sales since 2008. Having weathered the storm, 
we	 nonetheless	 remain	 attentive	 to	 organizational	
needs and have taken steps to rejuvenate our tal-
ent pool by recruiting highly-qualified, creative and 
driven individuals who will guide us through ERC’s 
next	phase	of	growth.

As the company begins to deliver on its ambitious 
goals at Sahl Hasheesh and beyond, I am pleased to 
be	working	with	our	new	Chief	Executive	Officer,	Mr.	
Mohamed Kamel, whose accomplishments in the 
months since he assumed day-to-day responsibility 
for ERC in January 2010 have been significant. Impor-
tantly, I note that Mohamed has not just gained my 
personal confidence, but that of our entire Board.

In addition to our goals for SHC, the Board has iden-
tified a number of priorities crucial to our ongo-
ing success, including strengthening our corporate 
identity and continuing to improve our corporate 
governance.

With respect to corporate governance in particular, 
I am very proud to note that our Board of Direc-
tors today is stronger and more dynamic than ever 
before, composed of distinguished individuals from 
vital disciplines. The robust approach to governance 
promoted by the Board establishes clear fiduciary 
duties, and we will continue to deliver careful and 
detailed studies of critical strategic options, ensur-
ing fast and reliable decision-making.

2009 was a challenging year for Egypt’s business 
community. I am delighted that ERC rose to the chal-
lenge, and I firmly believe that 2010 will mark a true 
turning point for this company. 

Mahmoud Abdallah
Chairman

Chairman’s Note



6      ı   ANNUAL REPORT 2009 ANNUAL REPORT 2009  ı       7    

I am humbled by the faith 
that has been entrusted 
in me as I have assumed 
the	 post	 of	 Chief	 Execu-
tive Officer. The chal-
lenges of 2008 and 2009 
—	challenges,	I	note,	that	
owe more to spillover of 
the global economic crisis 
into our market than to 
weakness in our industry 
or our nation’s fundamen-
tals	—	are	now	easing.	As	
they do, I foresee enor-
mous opportunities for 
ERC in the coming decade 
and beyond. 

In close cooperation with 
a dynamic Board of Direc-
tors, I look forward to 
charting and implement-

ing a strategy that will see ERC become not just the 
master developer and community manager of Sahl 
Hasheesh, but of a diverse portfolio of regional mega-
communities that create value for shareholders not 
merely through land sales, but through reliable, high-
margin recurring revenue streams.

At the mid-point of 2010, it is clear that economic 
conditions in Egypt have recovered somewhat from 
the	 lows	 of	 2008-09,	 which	 were	 characterized	 by	
unprecedented investor sentiment and financial mar-
ket	volatility	—	and	equally	clear	that	the	regional	and	
global recoveries for which we had all hoped remain 
both slow and tentative. ERC, however, is in a strong 
position to take advantage of current market condi-
tions. Our cash reserves ensure that our medium-term 
growth plans will not be constrained if receivables 
and sales performance should remain below pre-
crisis levels. In addition, low activity throughout the 
real estate development sector has had some posi-
tive effects upon which we and our sub-developers 
are	now	looking	to	capitalize:	Suppliers	and	contrac-
tors are willing to make attractive concessions at dis-
count prices and the cost of labor and raw materials 
has eased. Drawing on the strength of our business 
model, we continue to invest in infrastructure ahead 
of demand to cement our position as the clear choice 
for leading sub-developers. 

As our flagship development Sahl Hasheesh enters 
its third phase, we have already begun aggressively 
marketing the resort as the destination of choice for 
developers now resuming investment in the field. A 
complementary consumer-facing marketing effort 
will raise Sahl Hasheesh’s profile for both holiday-
makers and those looking to purchase second homes 
or vacation properties.

These marketing efforts will not just promote the 
land sales that have been the life-blood of ERC to 
date, but the long-term development of our recur-
ring revenue streams from both utility sales and com-
munity management fees. In this respect, I note that 
all of our largest sub-developers have signed on to 
our community management fees scheme for imple-
mentation	in	2011.	ERC	has	been	directly	subsidizing	
sub-developers by defraying the community man-
agement	fees	on	their	behalf	to	minimize	the	impact	
of the financial crisis. This has resulted in out-of-
pocket	expenses	for	ERC	of	EGP	30-35	million	in	each	
of 2009 and 2010 to cover the cost of maintenance, 
security, waste management and the like. While we 
will not look to make community management fees a 
high-margin	driver	of	ERC’s	P&L	growth,	the	removal	
of this burden will have a clear effect on our balance 
sheet and use of funds.

Similarly, we continue to make important progress 
on	the	utilities	front	as	we	finalize	bureaucratic	pro-
cedures for our electricity distribution license with a 
target of starting construction of our own EGP 70 mil-
lion substation in the summer of 2011. Meanwhile, 
the communications network through which we will 
offer quad-play connectivity to sub-developers awaits 
little	more	 as	 the	 government	 finalizes	 the	 licenses	
that will allow the resale of connectivity within gated 
communities, and our water supply capacity is suffi-
cient to meet medium-term demand.

Throughout the second half of 2010 and into 2011, 
we will meet key milestones in the development of 
several Phase I and Phase II strategic assets. The rapid 
approach of Old Town’s grand opening in fall 2010, 
which will bring online 56,623 square meters of com-
mercial space, sees us negotiating agreements with 
high-profile anchor tenants while simultaneously 
finalizing	 the	model	 under	 which	 Old	Town	will	 be	
managed. As we fill the waterfront with quality res-
taurants, retail, entertainment and nightlife venues, 

our	revenue	stream	from	strategic	assets	will	expand	
noticeably. We have full faith that Sahl Hasheesh Com-
pany (SHC) management, now distinct from ERC’s 
management team, will attract the best and most 
optimal retail and entertainment tenants and brands 
to the downtown neighborhood of Old Town. Sahl 
Hasheesh Company will continue to play an increas-
ing role in generating future recurring revenues for 
ERC.
 
Meanwhile, I am particularly proud to welcome  
Orascom Development Holding (ODH), which is simul-
taneously our newest partner on the ground in Sahl 
Hasheesh and our newest large long-term institu-
tional shareholder. ODH will develop and market the 
Marina under a revenue- and profit-sharing arrange-
ment that will have a significant impact on ERC’s bot-
tom line. The business plan under which the Marina 
will be brought to market will be unveiled later this 
year with the goal of a 1Q2011 sales launch. 

Equally key to the long-term health of Sahl Hasheesh 
will be the imminent launch of Phase III, which will 
transform Sahl Hasheesh into a fully-functioning 
resort city with a year-round population by introduc-
ing hospitals, schools, office buildings and small and 
medium	sized	businesses	to	the	city.	To	develop	and	
help implement this vision, we have contracted with 
world-class master planner WATG, which is currently 
developing a detailed master plan to be ready for 
implementation early in 2011.

While I have spoken at some length here about Sahl 
Hasheesh, ERC is much more than a single develop-
ment: We are a dynamic and innovative strategic 
master developer of unique mega communities. We 
create shareholder value through effective manage-
ment of our current land bank while continuing to lay 
the	groundwork	 for	expansion	even	as	we	continue	
our decades-long commitment to Sahl Hasheesh. 
By controlling the development of the community 
through the master plan, controlling the release of 
plots to sub-developers, and controlling the manage-
ment of the community utilities within the develop-
ments, we create world-class managed communities 
that ensure long-term returns for our investors, our 
partners and our residents.

In the years ahead, ERC will create value in Egypt 
and abroad using the same principles refined at Sahl 

Hasheesh. We will begin by identifying and acquiring 
large tracts of land suitable for high-quality develop-
ment, then partner with the world’s leading master 
planners to design a state-of-the-art community, 
including comprehensive infrastructure networks, 
design guidelines, and community rules and regula-
tions. We will then market designated plots within 
the master-planned community to qualified sub-
developers and investors in strategic phases. Each of 
our revenue streams will be managed strategically 
to provide long-term value and recurring revenue to 
ERC and its investors.

The	 institutional	expertise	and	network	of	 relation-
ships we have developed in the creation of Sahl 
Hasheesh will lend themselves equally to the cre-
ation	 of	 world-class	 industrial,	 residential,	 mixed-
use, and potentially even agricultural communities.

I am proud to be associated in such a capacity with 
a company that has achieved so much in the past 
decade	—	and	I	look	forward	to	my	successor,	when-
ever that may be, noting one day that 2010 marked 
a significant inflection point in the development of 
this outstanding company. 

Mohamed Kamel
Chief Executive Officer

CEO’s Note
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Egyptian Resorts Company is a master developer of 
mega communities with an inaugural flagship devel-
opment project on the Red Sea Coast, Sahl Hasheesh. 
ERC’s business model focuses on generating long-term 
shareholder value from three revenue streams: land 
sales, strategic real estate development, and commu-
nity and utilities management. 

The company pursues an integrated, full-cycle devel-
opment strategy. It acquires broad acre land holdings 
suitable for premium mega resorts development at 
nominal value, creates a master plan with some of the 
world’s leading architectural and urban planning firms, 
builds state-of-the-art infrastructure networks, imple-
ments design guidelines and community management 
rules and regulations, and then on-sells individual 
pre-designated plots to sub-developers and investors 
whose main businesses are hotel ownership, operation 
and	management,	 as	well	 as	 luxury	 resort	 residential	
real estate development.

Unlike most developers, ERC focuses on the macro 
development of infrastructure and land plot sales. The 
timing	of	land	sales	—	which	tend	to	be	large,	strate-
gic	plots	—	 to	 value-adding	developers	 is	 a	 function	
of market conditions. ERC targets a healthy pace of 
land release from its bank so as to preserve both ERC’s 
valuations and the returns on the investments of sub-
developers. As such, revenues for the company are 
necessarily	“lumpy”	and	should	be	viewed	 in	context,	
not as a straight linear progression as one might view a 
business driven by a more traditional sales cycle. 

Sahl	 Hasheesh,	 approximately	 two-thirds	 the	 size	 of	
Manhattan, is located on the shores of a natural bay 18 
kilometers south of Hurghada. The land was first allot-
ted to ERC by the Tourism Development Authority in 
1995	 for	 approximately	 USD	 1.32	 per	 square	 meter.	
In the fifteen years since the initial purchase, ERC has 
partnered with a number of world-class urban design 
and architectural firms to create and implement a 
master plan for Phases I and II of the project. ERC has 
positioned itself as the sole utilities provider through 
extensive	investment	in	state-of-the-art	infrastructure,	
including water desalination and purification plants 
and sewage treatment facilities. The company is also 
developing	expanded	recurring	revenue	streams	from	
both electricity resale (through a proprietary high-
to-medium voltage substation) and communications 
networks. Owned by ERC, these networks represent a 

reliable stream of revenue that will mature as the com-
munity grows. 

Complementing the utilities business, Egyptian Resorts 
Company’s strategic model also includes community 
management services as a revenue stream. ERC provides 
the full array of community services to its residents, includ-
ing security, waste management, maintenance, cleaning, 
community brand and reputation management, and 
quality and design control. Although the company has 
defrayed these fees on behalf of sub-developers in both 
2009 and to-date in 2010, the new community manage-
ment fee scheme taking effect in 2011 will see all major 
developers begin paying dues in proportion to their use 
of ERC’s community management services.

In	addition	to	land	sales	to	sub-developers	and	exten-
sive investment in resort infrastructure, ERC manages 
a number of strategic one-off and recurring revenue 
streams within the mega resort to ensure the pres-
ence of a base supply of property units and provide a 
quality-control framework for sub-development proj-
ects. The Sahl Hasheesh Company (SHC), a majority-
owned subsidiary of ERC, is the sole developer for the 
Phase I and Phase II downtown commercial retail and 
entertainment	 area,	 including	approximately	 600,000	
square meters of strategic commercial and residential 
property. ERC will record revenue from the sale and 
both short- and long-term rental / lease of these units. 

To develop the company’s most significant strate-
gic asset, the Marina at Sahl Hasheesh, ERC has part-
nered with Orascom Development Holding, one of 
the	world’s	most	experienced	marina	developers.	This	
2.5-million-square-meter Marina will promise recurring 
revenues from the lease of boat docking and commer-
cial retail space, as well as a one-off revenue stream 
from the sale of residential units and hotel land plots. 
Additional strategic assets under development include 
golf courses, sporting facilities, and educational and 
healthcare infrastructure.

Although ERC’s present operational focus is the plan-
ning of Phase III and the inauguration of the Old Town, 
the company continues to target a position as the 
region’s leading master-developer. The institutional skill 
sets and best practices developed on the Red Sea Coast 
are equally portable to large-scale industrial, office and 
mixed-use	 developments,	 other	 tourism	 destinations,	
and potentially even agricultural communities.

Our Strategy

1. We buy raw land at nominal value in prime locations... 2. Develop a master plan with leading firms...

3. Build infrastructure and road networks... 4. Sell land plots to qualified sub-developers...

6. Producing world-class community developments.  5. Manage the development of key strategic assets...
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Despite the decline in demand for prime development 
land in 2009, ERC was able to turn weak sales activity into 
a positive opportunity to prepare for the eventual recov-
ery of demand. In 2008, ERC’s Weighted Average Price 
(WAP) per square meter reached USD 143. With the sub-
sequent	freezing	of	the	market	as	the	global	financial	cri-
sis spilled over into Egypt in 2009, ERC resisted the temp-
tation to inflate quarterly financials by releasing land to 
sub-developers at fire-sale prices. Management made 
this decision in the interest of preserving the value of its 
land bank and the investments of its sub-development 
partners. Instead, ERC focused on long-term returns, 
drawing on its considerable cash reserves to invest in 
project infrastructure at attractive prices, while waiting 
for land value to recover to former levels. The progress 
achieved during this past year and a half has positioned 
ERC to be the most attractive development partner as 
developers resume investment activity.

Meanwhile, the slowdown in the construction industry 
has benefited ERC. The cost of labor and raw materi-
als has fallen significantly, while suppliers and vendors 
offer favorable payment terms. Contractors are eager to 
work on well-funded projects that have continued apace 
despite the economic conditions, with many offering 
their services at a discount.

As the company enters the second half of 2010, several 
positive	market	 signals	are	on	 the	horizon	 indicating	a	
strong recovery for both consumer demand and devel-
opment investment. 

Last	year,	ERC	predicted	resilience	in	the	Egyptian	tour-
ism	sector	buoyed	by	proximity	 to	Europe,	vacationers’	
interest	 in	 inexpensive	 destinations,	 and	 Egypt’s	 diver-
sified tourism product offering. ERC was right: Indeed, 
Egypt has proven to be a particularly attractive destina-
tion for European travelers during these uncertain eco-
nomic times.

The Egyptian tourism industry demonstrated outstand-
ing resilience in 2009, reporting a mere 2.3% decrease in 
the number of visitors from record 2008 levels. Egypt wel-
comed 12.5 million tourists, 50% of whom flew directly 
to Red Sea destinations. Egypt accounts for a quarter of 
total Middle East and North Africa (MENA) tourist arrivals 
and a third of all African tourist arrivals.

The tourism sector is a vital component of the Egyptian 
economy. As the third-largest contributor to GDP growth, 

the	industry	represents	40%	of	all	service	export	receipts	
and	employs	approximately	12%	of	the	Egyptian	work-
force. It is also the second-largest hard currency earner 
—	USD	10.8	billion	in	2009,	down	only	2.1%	from	record	
2008 tourism receipts. As a result, the Egyptian govern-
ment is strongly committed to supporting the growth of 
this industry and, despite the crisis, appears to be on track 
to meet its target of 14 million tourist arrivals by 2012. 

Only slightly further by airplane than Mediterranean 
resorts, a Red Sea vacation is much more affordable. Even 
before the financial crisis sent shock waves through global 
real estate and tourism markets, the average room rate in 
Hurghada hotels was USD 41 per night, the lowest in the 
region, helping the city maintain an 86% average occu-
pancy rate. In Dubai, by comparison, the average room 
rate was USD 258 (2007). An overwhelming majority of 
the	total	annual	visitors	to	Egypt	are	European	—	70%	in	
2008, while 15% arrived from Middle Eastern countries.

Among other projects, the state is currently managing 
an EGP 1.4 billion upgrade to the Hurghada International 
Airport. A new runway and terminal due to open in 2011 
will increase the airport’s capacity by an additional 7.5 
million passengers per year.

In addition to Egypt’s resilient tourism sector, there are 
positive indicators in the real estate industry. Over the 
last few years, the sector has seen the market for second-
homes in Red Sea destinations gain relative to the North 
Coast, historically the leading second-home location for 
Egypt’s upper-middle and upper classes. This new trend 
is a very positive sign for ERC. As an entertainment hub 
with a warmer climate, the Red Sea offers Egyptians ideal 
year-round getaway destinations. 

Furthermore, 2010 is already showing signs of being 
a solid recovery year for the real estate sector. A recent 
Credit Suisse report predicts that the Egyptian real estate 
market will outpace all other Middle East and North 
Africa markets this year, based on first quarter figures. 
The growth will come from “strong domestic housing 
demand recovery that should filter through developers’ 
sales figures this year,” the report projects. 

The resilience of the tourism industry and the ongoing 
recovery of the real estate sector in Egypt signals the 
imminent return of a development-friendly economic 
environment. Revenue from land sales for development 
purposes should improve in the coming months. 

Growth Drivers: Our Current Market Sahl Hasheesh Scale Comparisons
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Lower	Manhattan,	New	York	City,	USA

1 cm = 1.05 km

Dubai Centre / Creek, United Arab Emirates

1 cm = 1.05 km

Cairo Centre / Nile, Egypt

1 cm = 1.05 km

Zamalek

The Outline of Sahl Hasheesh International Resort Community 
Land	Bank	Area:	40,907,554	Square	Meters	/	4,091	Hectares
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Although the 2009 fiscal year was challenging for Egyp-
tian Resorts Company’s bottom line, driven by a strate-
gic decision of maintaining land plot prices, the market-
wide slowdown served as an opportunity during which 
the Board moved to engage new management with 
a mandate to refine the company’s short-term objec-
tives, attract key partners, and strengthen its recurring 
revenue streams in preparation for market recovery. 
Ultimately, ERC weathered the storm by maintaining a 
strong balance sheet and carefully controlling operat-
ing	expenses	and	healthy	cash	reserves.

The	spillover	from	the	global	financial	crisis	—	includ-
ing the slowdown in economic growth and a restric-
tion	of	credit	by	already	cautious	banks	—	put	a	serious	
damper on demand for prime real estate and hospitality 
development	or	expansion	 in	Egypt.	While	ERC’s	busi-
ness model depends on three streams of revenue that 
will make strong contributions to its top and bottom 
lines, development and settlement progress are yet to 
reach the critical mass for recurring streams to reach a 
level of maturity that would offset the decline in rev-
enue from land sales. 

With market uncertainty limiting demand and would-be 
purchasers seeking heavy discounts, ERC made the 

Management Discussion 
and Analysis for 2009

decision to hold back land sales to sub-developers rather 
than undermine its property valuation by caving in to 
market pressures in the interest of generating token rev-
enues. Even in the best of times, management’s target 
is always a healthy release of inventory from ERC’s land 
bank that protects both ERC’s valuations and returns on 
the investments of its sub-developers. 

As a result of this strategic decision, revenue and earn-
ings at the end of the year were down significantly from 
a record 2008. Consolidated revenue for 2009 was EGP 
25.7	million	and	consolidated	earnings	before	tax	were	
EGP 8.1 million compared to EGP 347.7 million and EGP 
345.9 million, respectively, the previous year. Despite 
having sold no land in 2009, ERC was still able to record 
a profit, a fact that speaks volumes about the company’s 
low overhead structure and the potential of its utilities 
business.

With sales unlikely, ERC’s Board turned its focus in the 
second half of 2009 towards building a platform for 
future growth. This process accelerated in 2010 with the 
engagement of new management.

Management notes key achievements that include the 
conclusion of an agreement with Orascom Development 

Holding (ODH) that will entrust its subsidiary Orascom 
Development and Management (ODM) with the devel-
opment of the Marina, a central Sahl Hasheesh attrac-
tion and key ERC strategic asset. Under the agreement, 
which	covers	approximately	2.5	million	square	meters	
of land including the Marina, ERC will remain the owner 
of the property, while ODM will market, sell, and man-
age the development of the Marina and surrounding 
real estate. ODM will be compensated through a rev-
enue- and profit-sharing scheme. In addition, ODH took 
a 4.5% equity stake in ERC, underlining the company’s 
confidence in ERC’s long-term prospects.

ERC also recently entered into an agreement with lead-
ing global planning consultants WATG for the creation 
of the Phase III Master Plan at Sahl Hasheesh. Phase III 
will bring 28 million square meters of land online for 
development.	WATG	has	a	six-decade-long	track	record	
that has seen it consult on master development plans 
for hospitality, leisure and entertainment destinations 
in 160 countries and territories. WATG has designed 
more five-star hotels and resorts than any other firm 
worldwide.

These key developments are among the early achieve-
ments of a new management team. At the end of 

•	 	Old	Town	will	 be	 open	 and	 be	 fully	 operational,	
as Sahl Hasheesh Company (SHC) implements its 
management model to attract commercial ten-
ants. 

•	 	The	Sahl	Hasheesh	marketing	campaign	will	have	
been launched.

•	 	Orascom	 Development	 and	 Management	 will	
have launched the Sahl Hasheesh Marina project. 
Concurrently, ERC will be aggressively marketing 
Marina-side land plots to sub-developers.

•	 	Sahl	Hasheesh	will	offer	at	 least	six	 luxury	hotels	
for vacationers to choose from.

•	 	ERC	will	have	eliminated	approximately	EGP	20-30	
million in annual community cash payments, by 
passing community management fees on to sub-
developers.

January 2010, Mr. Mohamed Kamel assumed the role 
of	Chief	Executive	Officer,	taking	over	from	Mr.	Rich-
ard Turner. Mr. Kamel has already appointed a new 
head of marketing, a new human resources director, 
and a new chief financial controller. The ERC team has 
demonstrated its talent and enthusiasm by securing 
partnerships with ODH, WATG and others and will 
serve as the foundation for the company’s long-term 
growth, particularly as ERC considers its strategy and 
timeline for a second mega development in Egypt. 

Looking	 forward,	 recurring	 revenues	 will	 grow	
in concert with a forecast tripling of the number 
of operational dwellings in Sahl Hasheesh by the 
end of 2012. The positive impact of the diversified 
nature of revenue streams from the sale of utilities, 
community management fees, and rental revenue 
from ERC’s subsidiary, the Sahl Hasheesh Company, 
should begin to act as a hedge against the volatility 
of land plot sales during downturns. As the market 
shows signs of recovery, ERC will aggressively accel-
erate land releases to qualified sub-developers. High 
numbers of tourist arrivals to Egypt in the first half of 
2010 and strong occupancy growth in the Hurghada 
area are positive indicators of a return to pre-2009 
market conditions.

•	 	The	Phase	III	WATG	Master	Plan	will	be	completed	
and infrastructure implementation will have com-
menced.

•	 	ERC	 will	 continue	 to	 aggressively	 enhance	 the	
depth of its middle management team.

•	 	ERC	will	 be	 a	 licensed	 electricity	 distributor	 and	
reseller, and construction on the Sahl Hasheesh 
electricity substation will have commenced.

•	 	ERC	will	 have	 finalized	 the	 Sahl	Hasheesh	Beach	
Management	Model	and	initiated	its	execution.

Mohamed Kamel
Chief Executive Officer

In 2011
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The 18 months to June 2010 have seen significant 
development progress achieved at Sahl Hasheesh, 
ERC’s unique, purpose-built Red Sea destination, 
located 18 kilometers south of Hurghada Interna-
tional Airport (500 kilometers from Cairo). This year-
round	 development,	 approximately	 two-thirds	 the	
size	 of	 the	 island	 of	 Manhattan,	 is	 expected	 even-
tually	 to	 exceed	 the	 population	 of	 Hurghada.	 The	
12-kilometer-long bay has long been a popular des-
tination,	renowned	for	excellent	diving	and	a	beauti-
ful beach, one of the longest stretches of swimmable 
shore on the Egyptian Red Sea coast. 

The infrastructure of the 6-million-square-meter 
Phase I area of the resort has already been completed 
and the opening of the first hotels and apartments 
occurred in the first half of 2007. With stunning five-
star	hotels,	luxurious	apartments,	a	beautiful	down-
town waterfront, renowned dive sites, golf courses, 
a	 cinema	 complex,	 and	 a	 world-class	 marina,	 Sahl	
Hasheesh	is	poised	to	become	one	of	the	most	exclu-
sive addresses on the Red Sea.

Nestled in the spectacular surroundings of Sahl 
Hasheesh,	 exclusive	 hotels	 and	 apartments	 with	
direct beach access are now available for short-term 
stay, purchase or lease. The resort’s 5-star hotels, 
including the Sahl Hasheesh Marriott Beach Resort 
(formerly	the	Old	Palace),	Pyramisa,	Premier	Le	Reve	
and Premier Romance, offer vacationers the best 
value for money on the Egyptian Red Sea Coast. The 
highest-quality	flats	—	at	Azzurra,	Palm	Beach	Piazza,	
El	Andalous,	Ocean	Breeze	and	Sunset	Pearl	—	offer	
investors a first-rate price / performance ratio. Short 
flight times from all European capitals, a warm cli-
mate throughout the year and the government’s 
commitment	 to	 expanding	 the	 tourism	 industry	
promises dynamic growth in tourist arrivals and Red 
Sea real estate prices in the coming years. 

Sahl Hasheesh: 
A Year Closer
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Sahl Hasheesh is being developed in three phases. 
Phases I and II are presently home to 1,591 hotel rooms 
and suites and 679 residential units managed by brands 
including	Premier	Le	Reve,	Premier	Romance,	Pyramisa,	
and the Sahl Hasheesh Marriott Beach Resort (for-
merly the Old Palace). In addition to the completed 
hotels and residential neighborhoods, 56,623 square 
meters of retail and entertainment property is currently 
available for lease.

The Phase III Master Plan is currently under design by 
WATG, a leading international master planner. After 
reviewing presentations from WATG and three other 
leading international firms in 2009, the ERC Technical 
Committee recommended WATG based on its ability to 

create the most value for the company while meeting 
its standards of sustainability. ERC officially partnered 
with WATG in early 2010. WATG is designing a plan to 
generate the highest local and international appeal, 
with the lowest possible environmental impact.

Phase III will shape and bring online the remaining  
28 million square meters of Sahl Hasheesh, trans-
forming the development into a thriving, year-round 
community. In addition to increasing the number of 
hotels,	 apartment	 complexes	 and	 restaurants,	 this	
phase	will	introduce	the	heart	of	the	city	—	hospitals,	
schools, office buildings and SMEs will complement 
the infrastructure already completed, tranforming Sahl 
Hasheesh into a year-round resort community. 

Having created the base demand for the resort in 
Phases I and II, the launch of Phase III will mark a 
comprehensive transition in focus from infrastruc-
ture and base unit construction to the development 
of Sahl Hasheesh as a self-sufficient state-of-the-art 
resort community, complete with first-class services 
and amenities.

As the first two phases continue to progress towards 
completion and Phase III enters construction stages 
in 2011, over 4,000 hotel rooms and 2,500 residen-
tial	units	are	expected	 to	be	completed	by	 the	end	
of 2012. In addition, two 18-hole golf courses are 
scheduled to be completed during the same time 
period.

The quality of the developments completed thus far 
and	the	promise	of	an	excellent	long-term	return	on	
investment formed the basis of negotiations with 
Orascom Development Holding (ODH) for the devel-
opment of the Marina and surrounding real estate, 
a central feature of the Sahl Hasheesh seascape 
and lifestyle. ERC officially partnered with ODH in 
early 2010, adding yet another industry leader to an 
already-impressive Sahl Hasheesh developer lineup. 
The completion of the Marina will bring online an 
asset	 that	 will	 directly	 expand	 ERC’s	 recurring	 rev-
enue streams in the form of harbor rental and man-
agement fees. The Marina will also play a vital role 
in attracting future investors, sub-developers and 
second-home purchasers. 

The Development of Sahl Hasheesh
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On the Horizon
The countdown to the grand opening of Old Town in 
the fall of 2010 has officially begun. At the heart of 
Sahl Hasheesh, the beautiful waterfront will offer a 
full array of boutique shops, restaurants, cafes, a dive 
center, and entertainment and nightlife venues by 
mid-fall. The imminent opening of Old Town marks 
a significant step in the evolution of Sahl Hasheesh; 
whereas currently vacationers and residents might 
feel the need to drive to Hurghada for fine dining, 
shopping, and an evening’s entertainment, Old Town 
will soon offer all these activities within convenient 
walking distance of their hotel or front door.

To spread the word about the opening and attract 
prospective commercial tenants, the Sahl Hasheesh 
Company launched a unique website for Old Town 
in May 2010, featuring pictures of various waterfront 
properties and  commercial space floor plans. 

ERC will soon be evaluating options for the Phase 
I public beach plan, for implementation in the last 
quarter of 2010. Right in front of Old Town, the beach 
will be the main point of entertainment and attrac-
tion for vacationers and residents alike. 

A retail and entertainment plan is currently being put 
together	for	the	10,000-square-meter	Arrival	Piazza.		
The Sahl Hasheesh landmark will feature up-and-
coming artists, poets, musicians, and local jewelry 
entrepreneurs displaying their talents and entertain-
ing visitors and residents.

ERC also looks forward to viewing, amending, and 
approving Orascom Development Holding’s busi-
ness plan for the Marina by the fourth quarter of 
2010. Concurrently, an aggressive marketing plan is 
under development for the Marina, which will launch 
at year-end and is slated to include a land sale for the 
construction of a harbor-side hotel.

Recent Achievements
•	 	Turfing	of	the	golf	course	across	from	the	Sahl	Hasheesh	

Marriott	Beach	Resort	(Old	Palace)	and	Premier	Le	Reve	
hotels has commenced.

•	 	The	 10,000-square-meter	 Arrival	 Piazza	 is	 completed	
and open to visitors.

•	 	Desalination	capacity	upgraded	from	4,000	cubic	eters	
per day to 10,000 cubic meters per day.

•	 	5,000	palm	 trees	planted	along	Sahl	Hasheesh	 resort	
community’s main roads.

•	 	Convenience	stores	have	opened	on	the	ground	floors	
of	the	Palm	Beach	Piazza	and	El	Andalous	apartment	
buildings at either end of Old Town. 

•	 	2,000	 cubic	meters	 of	Qena	 sand	was	 imported	 and	

placed on the Old Town beach. Qena sand is a finer 
grain of sand than found on typical northern Red Sea 
beaches	—–	beautiful	to	walk	and	lie	on	and	perfect	for	
sand castling.

•	 	Management	 continues	 to	 address	 the	 resolution	 of	
outstanding breaches of design guidelines in the villa 
zone.	Working	with	the	investors	in	breach,	ERC	recently	
resolved three conflicts through demolition and is 
finalizing	negotiations	with	the	remaining	parties.	This	
process will see ERC incur costs of some EGP 7 million 
(EGP 3 million of which is in cash), but it is an important 
investment in community standards, sending a strong 
message that will help prevent future breaches.
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Sahl Hasheesh Phase I and II
Estimated Project Completion Schedule

Sahl Hasheesh Master Plan



Our Partners in the Development 
of Sahl Hasheesh
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Civil Works Contractor

Communication Networks

Traffic Management SolutionsElectrical Networks Design and 
Consulting Services

Fiber Network Contractor

Strategic Assets Development 
Consultant

Communication Networks

Satellite Data and Telephone Service 
Provider

Phase I 
Infrastructure Supervisor

Communication Networks

Phase II Networks Design Consultant 

Community Administration Services

Plant	–	Operation	and	Maintenance	
Services

E N E R G Y
Sustainability Consultant

Feasibility and Market Analysis 
Consultant

Phase	III	Lead	Master	Planners

Sewerage	Treatment	Plant	and	Lift	
Pump Stations Operator

Phase I and II Master Planners

Environmental Consultant

Waterways	and	Lakes	Engineering	
Consultant
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Sahl Hasheesh Sub-Developers and Development Brands
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Abu Bakr Makhlouf
Investor Relations Manager 
Prior to joining ERC, Mr. Makhlouf 
served as the Commercial Strategy 
Manager for CEMEX, a world lead-
ing	 cement	 and	 Ready	 Mix	 pro-

ducer. During his tenure with CEMEX, Mr. Makhlouf 
was a member of a turnaround team for the opera-
tion in Egypt after acquiring a local producer and 
has led strategic projects in several areas of the busi-
ness. 

Mr. Makhlouf is a lecturer of Strategy and Interna-
tional Marketing at the American University in Cairo 
and has published case studies on the reforms of the 
Egyptian Economy and the prospects of the global 
telecom industry through IESE Business School in 
Spain. 

Mr. Makhlouf holds a Bachelors degree in Com-
merce from Cairo University and an MBA from IESE 
Business School.

Hazem Kassem
Planning & Approvals Manager
Prior to joining ERC in 2008, Mr. 
Kassem launched an architecture 
and interior design firm in Cairo 
that has, over a seven year span, 

successfully delivered more than 45 commercial and 
residential projects in Egypt and the United King-
dom.

Mr. Kassem holds a Bachelors degree in Architec-
tural Engineering and Environmental Design from 
the Arab Academy for Science and Technology. 

Laura Johnson
Marketing Manager
Ms.	 Johnson	 has	 extensive	 expe-
rience in strategic marketing and 
project management. Prior to join-
ing ERC, she worked as a Marketing 

Consultant at Campbell Alliance and then as a Man-
ager at Ovation Research Group in San Francisco, 
California. Most recently, she worked as a Marketing 
Consultant	at	Dar	Al	Fouad	Hospital	in	Giza,	Egypt.	
 Ms. Johnson holds a Bachelors degree from the 
University of Washington and an MBA from George-
town University.

Mohamed Ibrahim Kamel
Chief	Executive	Officer	
Mr. Kamel assumes the role of Chief 
Executive	Officer	having	previously	
served on the ERC Board and the 
Audit and Investment Committees. 

Prior to joining ERC, he spent eight years with KATO 
Investment, one of Egypt’s largest and most diversified 
industrial and services conglomerates with over twenty 
subsidiaries in eight divisions, operating in manufactur-
ing, aerospace, tourism, real estate, construction, logis-
tics, banking and trading. Mr. Kamel assumed several 
roles in different divisions of KATO, including sales and 
marketing, operations manager, project manager and, 
finally, business development manager at KATO Invest-
ment’s headquarters. While at KATO, he was instrumen-
tal in creating the first modern, privately-held bonded 
warehouse at Cairo International Airport, and managed 
the debt-raising process from European banks for the 
aerospace division. Mr. Kamel also worked as a consul-
tant	with	Bain	&	Company	in	their	London	offices	fol-
lowing his MBA.
 Mr. Kamel holds a Bachelors degree in Econom-
ics with high honors from the American University in 
Cairo and an MBA with honors from Harvard Business 
School.

Darren Gibson
Vice President of Planning,  
Approvals and Infrastructure 
Mr. Gibson joined ERC with over 
20	 years	 of	 experience	 in	 public	
and private sector urban planning, 

including eight years as a Company Director in town 
planning and development consultancy practices. He 
has	extensive	experience	in	assessment	and	manage-
ment of urban planning projects, including master 
plans and large urban land release areas, major tour-
ism projects, commercial and residential projects, and 
major infrastructure projects. 
 Mr. Gibson spent nine years as a town planner for 
Tweed Shire, a regional government in Australia.
 Mr. Gibson holds a Bachelors degree with honors 
in Town Planning from the University of New South 
Wales, Sydney, Australia. He is also accredited as a Cer-
tified Practicing Planner by the Planning Institute of 
Australia. 

Management Team

power stations, substations, and transmission and dis-
tribution	networks.	He	also	has	extensive	experience	in	
the beverage sector, having worked at Coca Cola Bot-
tling	Company	of	Saudi	Arabia,	Fayrouz	 International,	
and Pepsi-Cola’s North Africa division. 
 Mr. Saad holds a Bachelors degree in Electrical Power 
and Machines Engineering from Cairo University.

David Tully
Chief IT Advisor
With	over	25	years	of	experience	in	
the ICT field, Mr. Tully has served as 
a technology consultant on various 
projects for major international hotel 

groups including Accor, Starwood, Hilton and IHG. Prior 
to his work in the hospitality industry, Mr. Tully worked 
on international ICT projects with Deloitte Consulting, 
and also collaborated on projects for various top-tier 
international accounting and legal firms. 

Ahmed Amer
Chief Financial Controller
Prior to joining ERC, Mr. Amer worked 
as Chief Financial Officer in Nesma 
Holding, Financial Manager in Arafa 
Holding,	 and	 External	 Auditor	 for	

KPMG in Cairo and for Moore Stephens in Jeddah. Mr. 
Amer is a member of the Egyptian Society for Accoun-
tants and Auditors. He is accredited as a Certified Public 
Accountant, a Certified Management Accountant and a 
Certified Financial Manager by the Institute of Manage-
ment Accountants in the United States. 
 Mr. Amer holds a Bachelors degree in Accounting 
from Cairo University.

Sherine Amr
Human Resources Director
Prior to joining ERC, Ms. Amr was 
the Deputy General Manager for 
HR at BMW Egypt. Previously, she 
worked as HR director for TE Data. 

She began her career in Dubai, where she spent 12 
years working for various multinationals, including 
Standard	Chartered	Bank,	Master	Foods	(Effemex)	and	
the British Council. 
 Ms. Amr holds a Bachelors degree in Psychology 
from the American University in Cairo.

Hassan Azab
General Manager, Sahl Hasheesh 
Company for Touristic Investments
Hassan	 Azab	 is	 General	 Manager	
of the Sahl Hasheesh Company for 
Touristic	 Investments.	 Hassan	 Azab	

has	 30	 years	 of	 experience	 developing	 some	 of	 the	
largest and most comprehensive resorts in Egypt. He 
has designed and commissioned hotels in Hurghada, 
Sharm	El-Sheikh,	Cairo,	Luxor	and	Aswan,	in	addition	to	
five Nile-floating hotels. 
	 A	 veteran	 Lieutenant	 Colonel	 in	 the	 Egyptian	 Air	
Force,	Mr.	Azab	holds	Bachelors	degrees	in	Aeronauti-
cal Engineering and Military Science.

Maged Malak
Director of Construction and  
Development 
With	 20	 years	 of	 experience	 in	 the	
field, Mr. Malak has delivered proj-
ects totaling over USD 2.5 billion in 

value, in residential, commercial, industrial, community 
and hotel developments in the UAE, India and Australia. 
He served as Director of Development & Construction 
for Babcock & Brown International in India, Senior Proj-
ects Manager for APPI/Confluence in Dubai UAE, and 
Managing Director and Principal of JA Project Manage-
ment in Australia. 
 Mr. Malak is a member of the Australian Institute of 
Project Managers and the Royal Australian Institute of 
Building and is a Registered Builder in New South Wales, 
Australia.	He	holds	a	degree	in	Applied	Science	–	Con-
struction Management and an MBA from the Gradu-
ate School of Business at the University of Technology 
in Sydney, with a major in Project Management and a 
post-graduate Certificate in Management. 

Mohamad Saad
Director of Community 
Management
Mr. Saad joins ERC from Misr Ameri-
can Carpet Company (MAC), where 
he was the regional business man-

ager (Middle East and Africa). Previously, as a gen-
eral manager with El Sewedy Electrical Group, he 
was responsible for business development and sales 
of major electrical infrastructure projects, including 
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ERC assigns central importance to the implementa-
tion of rigorous corporate governance practices. ERC 
believes that a robust, proactive approach to corpo-
rate governance is vital to the interests of both the 
individual company, boosting investor confidence 
by protecting the value of their shares, and the busi-
ness community, providing a regulatory framework 
for healthy competition. ERC is committed to imple-
menting best practices in corporate governance and 
attaining top ranking among Egyptian listed compa-
nies. In 2009-10, ERC took a number of steps to fur-
ther strengthen the company’s corporate governance 
procedures.

Key Highlights
The appointment of Mahmoud Abdullah as Chair-
man in early 2010 was a significant milestone for ERC. 
An industry veteran, Mr. Abdullah has undertaken a 
thorough review of ERC’s corporate governance and, 
together with a newly-elected Board of Directors, has 
established clear fiduciary responsibilities for indi-
vidual Board members, for the committees on which 
they sit, and for the Board as a whole.  

Board Committees
ERC Board members serve on four committees, in 
accordance	with	their	respective	expertise:	the	Execu-
tive, Audit, Human Resources, and Technical Commit-
tees.

The Executive Committee is responsible for study-
ing	and	analyzing	high-level	strategic	and	operational	
issues and any other topics assigned to it by the Board 
of Directors and / or the Chairman of the Board. It 
then	proposes	strategies	that	the	Executive	Manage-
ment should follow to achieve the company’s overall 
objectives. The current and former Chairmen and the 

Corporate Governance

current CEO all sit on this committee, ensuring that 
each	decision	that	exits	the	Executive	Committee	has	
been deliberated and reached by the consensus of 
the company’s senior leadership.

The Audit Committee oversees the corporate ac-
countability of the company, assisting the Board by 
monitoring the integrity of ERC’s financial reporting 
process, systems of internal audits and controls, as 
well as financial statements and reports. The Audit 
Committee also monitors ERC’s compliance with legal 
and regulatory requirements and is responsible for 
appointing and overseeing ERC’s independent audi-
tors. The Audit Committee maintains frequent, open 
communication with the independent auditor, the 
internal auditors and management. This communica-
tion	includes	periodic	private	executive	sessions	with	
each of these parties. 

The Human Resources Committee meets regularly 
to review the company’s HR practices, policies and 
procedures	and	organization	structure	and	to	develop	
strategies to improve the company’s ability to attract, 
select, hire and retain employees. The HR Committee 
recommends additional policies to ensure that sala-
ries, benefits, bonuses, pensions, development and 
training are competitive and optimal to ERC’s business 
model. This not only safeguards shareholder interests, 
but also ensures the long-term HR sustainability of 
the firm.

The Technical Committee oversees the progress 
of	 project	 infrastructure	 as	 well	 as	 analyzes	 issues	
assigned to it by the Board of Directors and / or the 
Chairman of the Board. The Technical Committee pro-
vides the Board with recommendations regarding 
technical aspects of the company’s projects.

Board Report
On 28th March 2010, ERC held its General Assembly  
meeting (AGM), to which all shareholders are invited, 
at	Premier	Le	Reve	Hotel	in	Sahl	Hasheesh.	In	addition	
to the ratification of 2009 company financial state-
ments and reports, the AGM elected a new board 
of directors for the coming three-year period, 2010-
2013.

The	majority	of	the	Board	is	made	up	of	non-executive	
members, elected from different groups of sharehold-
ers. Once elected, however, board members are con-
sidered representatives for all shareholders and com-
mit to work in the best interests of the company, not 
just for their respective shareholder group. The Board 
is responsible for vision and strategic development, 
review and oversight of risk management systems, 
internal compliance and control, codes of ethics and 
conduct, legal and regulatory compliance and the 
development of suitable key indicators of financial  
and	 operational	 performance.	 The	 skills	 and	 experi-
ence profile of the Board is reviewed regularly, both 
internally	 and	 by	 external	 consultants,	 to	 ensure	 an	
appropriate Board composition. 

The Board is composed of 13 members. Board meet-
ings are scheduled at the commencement of each cal-
endar year; at the minimum, meetings are held once 
per quarter. The ERC Board of Directors convened 
seven times in 2009. 

External Auditor
Based on the recommendation of the Audit Commit-
tee,	the	Board	nominates	a	qualified	external	auditor.	
The	external	auditor	 is	selected	and	awarded	annual	
remuneration by the General Assembly, operating 
independently from the company and the Board. The 

external	auditor	fully	abides	by	Egyptian	Accounting	
Standards (EAS). To guard against potential conflict-
of-interest	 and	 ensure	 independence,	 	 the	 external	
auditor cannot be contracted for additional services 
without the prior approval of the Audit Committee.

ERC’s	 external	 auditor	 is	 KPMG	 Hazem	 Hassan.	 The	
firm was reappointed at the General Assembly meet-
ing in March 2010.

Additional Board Consultants & Experts
To complement the membership of the various 
board	committees,	 the	Board	draws	on	the	exper-
tise of the following consultants:

Walid Essam sits on the Audit Committee. Currently 
Chairman and CEO of Misr Assets Management, he 
brings	more	that	17	years	of	experience	 in	private	
equity and assets management to the ERC Board.

Dr. Sherief Oteifa sits on the Technical Committee, 
as	an	expert	 in	project	development	and	financial	
management. With a PhD in construction econom-
ics, Dr. Oteifa is also an advisor to the Minister of 
Investment for Projects and Mortgage Finance. 

Dr. Ahmed Taher sits on the Human Resources 
Committee,	as	an	expert	in	HR	strategy,	marketing	
strategy and sales management. As Chairman and 
CEO of Solutions Consulting, he has worked closely 
with	major	companies,	 including	EFG	Hermes,	Ezz	
Group,	Arab	African	International	Bank	and	Cemex.	
An MBA professor at the American University in 
Cairo, Dr. Taher has also developed hundreds of 
executive	training	programs.
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Mr. Mahmoud Abdallah
Chairman 
Mr. Abdallah is the Chairman of the 
Insurance Holding Company. Previ-
ously,	 Mr.	 Abdallah	 served	 as	 Execu-
tive VP and President of International 

Operations for American Re Corporation, one of the 
world’s top providers of property and casualty reinsur-
ance. Mr. Abdullah played a major role in the manage-
ment buyout of the company with KKR and a subsequent 
subsidiary merger with Munich Re. He also played a vital 
role	in	the	2005-06	restructuring	and	privatization	of	the	
Egyptian insurance sector.
 Mr. Abdallah holds a Bachelors degree and an MBA 
from Cairo University. 
 He is a member of the Executive Committee.

Dr. Ibrahim Kamel
Representing KATO Investment
Dr. Kamel is the former Chairman of 
the Board, a position which he held for 
12	years.	He	is	the	founder,	Executive	
Chairman, and majority shareholder 

of KATO Investment, one of Egypt’s largest and most diver-
sified industrial and services conglomerates with over 
twenty subsidiaries in eight divisions, operating in manu-
facturing, aerospace, tourism, real estate, construction, 
logistics, banking and trading. Dr. Kamel is also a member 
of the board of the Egyptian General Authority for Tourism 
Development and a member of the General Secretariat of 
The National Democratic Party, the ruling party in Egypt.
 Dr. Kamel holds a Bachelors degree in Commerce from 
Cairo	University	and	an	MBA	and	PhD	 in	Organizational	
Behavior, from the University of Michigan.
 He chairs the Executive Committee.

Dr. Hamza Al Kholi
Representing First Arabian 
Development & Investment
Dr. Al Kholi is Chairman and CEO of 
First Arabian Development & Invest-
ment Company. He is also owner and 

CEO of the Al Kholi Group in Saudi Arabia, founding and 
leading four Class A companies. These companies hold 
subsidiaries in the Middle East, Europe and the US in many 
industries, including hotels and resorts, real estate devel-
opment, construction, maintenance and operations, and 
information services and technology.
 Mr. Al Kholi holds a Bachelors degree in Pharmacy from 
King Saud University.

Board of Directors

Dr. Samir Makary
Representing Misr Insurance
Dr.	Makary	has	over	20	years	of	experi-
ence	in	financial	analysis.	With	Hazem	
Hassan Management Consultants and 
other firms, he has advised many pub-

lic and private institutions, including the Tourism Develop-
ment Authority and the Ministry of Tourism. He is also a 
long-time distinguished professor of Economics at AUC.
 Dr. Makary holds a Bachelors and Masters in Economics 
from	the	University	of	Alexandria,	with	a	second	Masters	in	
Economic Development from the University of Strathclyde 
and	a	PhD	in	Economics	from	the	University	of	Leicester.
 He chairs the Technical Committee and is a member of the 
Executive and Human Resources (HR) Committees. 

Eng. Abdel Monem Attia
Expert	Member	
Eng. Attia is Chairman of KATO Real 
Estate Development. Previously, he was 
Chairman of Saudi Egyptian Belgium 
Construction. With more than 50 years 

experience	in	real	estate	and	tourism	investment,	he	sits	on	
the board of First Arabian Real Estate & Tourism Investment, 
Ghazala	Hotels,	and	International	Airports	Co.	
 Eng. Attia holds a Bachelors degree in Architecture from 
Cairo University.
 He chairs the HR Committee and is a member of the  
Executive and Technical Committees.

Mr. Mohamed Ibrahim Kamel
Chief	Executive	Officer
Mr.	Kamel	assumes	the	role	of	Chief	Exec-
utive Officer having previously served 
on the ERC Board and the Audit and 
Investment Committees. Prior to joining 

ERC, he spent eight years with KATO Investment. Mr. Kamel 
assumed several roles in different divisions of KATO, includ-
ing sales and marketing, operations manager, project man-
ager and, finally, business development manager at KATO 
Investment’s headquarters. While at KATO, he was instru-
mental in creating the first modern, privately-held bonded 
warehouse at Cairo International Airport, and managed 
the debt-raising process from European banks for the aero-
space division. Mr. Kamel also worked as a consultant with 
Bain	&	Company	in	their	London	offices	following	his	MBA. 
 Mr. Kamel holds a Bachelors degree in Economics with 
high honors from the American University in Cairo and an 
MBA with honors from Harvard Business School.
 He is a member of the Executive Committee.

Dr. Gamal Elsaeed
Representing Rowad Tourism
Dr. Elsaeed is a professor of Civil Engi-
neering at Banha University.  In the 
private sector, Dr. Elsaeed manages 
an engineering firm involved in major 

infrastructure projects in MENA countries.
 Dr. Elsaeed holds a Bachelors, Masters and PhD in Civil 
Engineering and Business Administration from Ain Shams 
University,	Texas	A&M	and	Harvard	University.	
 He is a member of the Technical Committee.

Dr. Eskander Tooma
Representing Rowad Tourism
Dr. Tooma is co-owner and board 
member of Premium International 
for Credit Services and a board mem-
ber of Orascom Investment Fund and 

Rowad Tourism Company. He has served as a senior advi-
sor to the Egyptian Capital Market Authority and advised 
leading companies such as Citadel Capital and Orascom 
Development Holding. Dr. Tooma is also a tenured profes-
sor of finance and management at AUC.
 Dr. Tooma holds a Bachelors degree in Business Admin-
istration from AUC and Adelphi University, and Masters 
degrees in Finance and International Economics from 
Adelphi and Brandeis University. He also holds a PhD in 
Finance from Brandeis.
 He chairs the Audit Committee and is a member of the 
Executive Committee.

Mr. Ahmed Abu Hendia
Representing First Arabian 
Development and Investment
Mr. Abu Hendia is a board member 
and the legal counsel of First Arabian 
Development and Investment. He 

also serves on the Board of Information and Technology 
Services Co. and Delta Hotels and Tourism.
	 Mr.	Abu	Hendia	holds	a	Bachelors	degree	in	Law	from	
Ain Shams University. 
 He is a member of the HR Committee.

Mr. Mohamed Sobhy 
El Sehrawy
Representing Al Ahly Capital Holding
Mr. El Sehrawy is currently the Chief 
Investment Officer of Al Ahly Capital 
Holding. Previously, Mr. El Sehrawy 

worked for a number of years in corporate banking as a 

senior relationship manager and team leader.  
 Mr. El Sehrawy holds a Bachelors degree in Business 
Administration from Cairo University and diplomas 
from	Executive	Education	Programs	at	INSEAD	and	the	
Amsterdam Institute of Finance.

Mr. Ashraf Gamal El Din
Representing National Insurance
Dr.	Gamal	El	Din	is	the	Executive	
Director of the Egyptian Institute of 
Directors (EIoD) and the Egyptian 
Center for Corporate Responsibility.

 Dr. Gamal El Din serves as an advisor to the Minister 
of Investment and as a board member of GAFI Board 
of Trustees and the National Insurance Company of 
Egypt, He was previously head of the Business Admin-
istration department at Nile University.
 Dr. Gamal El Din holds a PhD in Management from 
University of Manchester, a Masters in Public Admin-
istration from Carleton University and a Bachelors in 
Business Administration from Cairo University.
 He is a member of the Audit  and HR Committees.

Mr. Atef Tawfik
Representing KATO Investment
Mr. Tawfik is currently the Corpo-
rate Vice President of Food Manu-
facturing for KATO Investment and 
Chairman and CEO of National Food 

Company. Mr. Tawfik is also a distinguished entrepre-
neur, having started a leading IT solutions provider 
and a print management company.
 Mr. Tawfik holds an MBA from Maastricht University 
and a Bachelors degree in Banking Management from 
Sadat Academy for Management Science. 

Mr. Khaled Abdel Baky
Representing Misr Insurance
Mr. Abdel Baky is CFO of Misr Real 
Estate Development, a subsidiary 
of the Insurance Holding Company. 
Previously, he held several positions 

in the investment sector of Misr Insurance and the 
asset management sector at Insurance Holding Com-
pany. 
 He holds a Bachelors degree in Commerce and 
diploma of Financial Management from Cairo Uni-
versity and a Masters degree in Public Administration 
from the Arab Academy for Science and Technology.
 He is a member of the Audit Committee.
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2010 ONWARDS
•	 	New	 management	 augments	 existing	 internal	

structure,	taking	company	to	next	level	in	its	life-
cycle	 —	 key	 support	 functions	 included	 in	 HR	
plan

•	 	Development	 of	 community	 services	 manage-
ment and utilities reticulation

•	 	Third	regional	five-star	hotel	begins	operations
•	 	Focus	on	completing	key	strategic	assets

2007-2009
•	 	First	regional	four-star	hotel	begins	operations
•	 	Phase	III	master	planning	process	begins
•	 	ERC	begins	considering	additional	 land	holdings	

to replicate business model

2004 - 2007
•	 	Unprecedented	 sales	 success	 based	 on	 rela-

tionship marketing and private roundtable  
negotiations

1999 - 2003
•	 	Aggressive	marketing	to	counter	the	fallout	from	

the  tourism industry crash
•	 	Appreciation	 of	 overall	 financial	 climate	 led	 to	

practical and market-leading sales terms and 
development schedules

1999
•	 	Infrastructure	work	begins	with	Bechtel	as	project	

manager

1998
•	 	First	plot	sold	for	USD	37	/	m²

1996 - 1997
•	 	Incorporation
•	 	Concept	 development	 and	 master	 planning	 for	

Phases	I	and	II	by	RTKL

1995
•	 	Land	 acquired	 for	 first	 project	 -	“Sahl	 Hasheesh”	

for	USD	1.32	/	m²	(average)

History of ERC Financial Statements
Egyptian Resorts Company (S.A.E.) — Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 2009
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Auditor’s Report as at December 31, 2009 Consolidated Balance Sheet of the Company
and its Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2009

To the Shareholders of Egyptian Resorts Company

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements of Egyptian Resorts Company 
(S.A.E), which comprise the consolidated balance 
sheet as of December 31, 2009, and the consolidated 
income statement, consolidated statement of changes 
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for 
the financial year then ended, and a summary of signifi-
cant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial 
Statements
These financial statements are the responsibility of 
Company’s management. Management is responsi-
ble for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
financial statements in accordance with the Egyptian 
Accounting Standards and in the light of the prevail-
ing Egyptian laws, management responsibility includes, 
designing, implementing and maintaining internal con-
trol relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of financial statements that are free from material mis-
statement, whether due to fraud or error; management 
responsibility also includes selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies; and making account-
ing estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with the Egyptian Standards 
on Auditing and in the light of the prevailing Egyptian 
laws. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements.  The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 

making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appro-
priateness of accounting policies used and the reason-
ableness of accounting estimates made by manage-
ment, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion on the financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of Egyptian Resorts 
Company (SAE) as of December 31, 2009, and of its 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with the Egyp-
tian Accounting Standards and the Egyptian laws and 
regulations relating to the preparation of these finan-
cial statements.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Require-
ments
The Company maintains proper books of account, 
which include all that is required by law and by the 
statutes of the Company, the financial statements are 
in agreement thereto, the inventory was counted by 
management in accordance with methods in practice.

The financial information included in the Board of Direc-
tors’ report, prepared in accordance with Law No. 159 of 
1981 and its executive regulation, is in agreement with 
the Company’s books of account but in the limit of the 
data which has been recorded in the books.

Financial Controller Managing Director Chairman
Mr. Moustafa Kamel Mr. Mohamed Ibrahim Kamel Dr. Mahmoud Abd Allah

Ahmed Mohamed Mohamed Salem 
Auditors’ register

At the Capital Market Authority No. (94)
KPMG Hazem HassanCairo, March 10, 2010

.The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements and to be read therewith  ـ
.Auditor report attached  ـ

Note No.
12/31/2009

EGP
12/31/2008

EGP
Long Term Assets
Fixed assets (Net) (3-2, 4) 179 801 602 36 667 932
Projects in progress (3-3, 5) 152 139 080 231 176 926
Accounts & notes receivable (Net) (3-7, 2-7) 73 960 889 211 707 130
Total Long Term Assets 405 901 571 479 551 988 

Current Assets
Work in process (6, 5-3) 373 426 041 351 218 574
Inventory (4-3)  51 031  51 031
Accounts & notes receivable (Net) (1/7, 7/3) 393 515 821 328 991 121
Suppliers & contractors advance payments 7 582 582 13 504 155
Sundry debtors and other debit balances (8) 7 423 436 5 575 572
Cash on hand & at banks (9) 309 218 545 371 172 352
Total Current Assets 1091 217 456 1070 512 805 

Current Liabilities
Provision for claims (10, 11-3)  420 000  420 000
Receivables- advance payments (11) 33 653 264 34 619 995
Sundry creditors and other credit balances (12) 36 321 681 35 753 743
Dividends payable  393 499  393 499
Estimated cost for development of sold land (6-3 ) 41 585 092 58 935 110
Due to Authority of Touristic Development-(due within one year) (1/13) 25 880 322 23 765 355
Income tax provision 4 872 148 79 753 302
Total Current Liabilities 143 126 006 233 641 004 
Working capital 948 091 450 836 871 801 
Total Investments 1353 993 021 1316 423 789 

Financed as follows:
Shareholders’ Equity
Issued and fully paid in capital (14) 1050 000 000 1050 000 000
Less: Treasury shares (14) - (51 640 333)
Gains from sale of treasury shares 6 041 052 -
Legal reserve (22) 123 986 754 113 279 929
Carried forward losses (23) (100 071 514) (334 862 239)
Net (loss) profit for the year (3 947 926) 264 601 632
 Shareholders’ Equity of holding company 1076 008 366 1041 378 989 

Minorities’ interest (18) 78 476 536 77 899 579
Total Shareholders’ Equity 1154 484 902 1119 278 568

Long-term Liabilities
Purchase of land creditors 190 775 930 192 326 857
Due to Authority of Touristic Development- Long term (14-2) 1 300 605 3 989 156
Deferred tax liability (3-19, 22) 7 431 584  829 208
Total Long-term Liabilities 199 508 119 197 145 221 
Total shareholders’ equity & Long-term Liabilities 1353 993 021 1316 423 789 

Translated & Originally
Issued in Arabic

Translated & Originally
Issued in Arabic
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*  The accompanying notes represent an integral part of these financial statements and are to be read with them.
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Note No.

For the financial 
year

From 1/1/2009
to 31/12/2009

EGP

For the financial 
year

From 1/1/2008
to 31/12/2008

EGP

Net sales (1/16) 15 503 472 338 158 387
Revenues from services rendered 10 278 184 9 621 653
Total revenues 25 781 656 347 780 040 

Less:
Cost of sales (2/16) - (15 645 080)
Operating expenses (9 969 028) (6 468 477)
Depreciation of operating fixed assets (4) (4 363 807) (1 654 483)
Gross profit 11 448 821 324 012 000 
Other operating revenues  748 944 33 928 378

12 197 765 357 940 378 

Selling & marketing expenses (1 670 115) (1 907 066)
General and administrative expenses (17) (16 699 956) (26 450 164)
Impairment in receivables (6 000 000) (10 421 691)
Fixed assets depreciation (4) (1 322 132) ( 526 441)
Banks charges ( 98 243) ( 151 517)

(Losses) Profits resulted from operating activity (13 592 681) 318 483 499 

Interest income 23 898 558 21 544 512
Capital loss - ( 74 469)
Foreign exchange differences (2 202 322) 5 971 392

21 696 236 27 441 435 

Net profit before income tax 8 103 555 345 924 934 
Income tax provision (18/3) (4 872 148) (79 753 302)
Deferred tax that results in a (liability) (21, 18/3) (6 602 376) ( 361 821)

Net (loss) profit after income tax (3 370 969) 265 809 811 

Holding company’s shareholders’ share in the year’s profits (3 947 926) 264 601 632
Minorities share in profits of subsidiary company for the year  576 957 1 208 179

(3 370 969) 265 809 811 
Earnings per share (15) (0.004) 0.26 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the financial year ended December 31, 2009

Note No.

For the financial 
year

From 1/1/2009
to 31/12/2009

EGP

For the financial 
year

From 1/1/2008
to 31/12/2008

EGP

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net profit before income tax 8 103 555 345 924 934

Adjustments to Reconcile Net Profit with Net
Cash Flows from Operating activities
Impairment in receivables 6 000 000 10 421 691
Fixed assets depreciation (4) 5 685 939 2 180 925
Capital losses -  74 469

19 789 494 358 602 019
Change in working capital
Decrease (increase) in receivables (net) 70 119 092 (173 129 149)
Decrease (increase) in debtors & other debit balances 2 928 156 (8 255 256)
Decrease (increase) in suppliers advance payments 5 921 575 (3 977 951)
(Increase) decrease in work in process (22 207 467) 34 854 037
Decrease in receivables advance payments ( 966 731) (3 965 380)
Increase (decrease) in creditors and other credit balances  809 150 (4 726 681)
Changes in estimated cost for development of sold land (16 047 466) 24 528 524
(Decrease) in due to Authority of Touristic development ( 567 752) (1 269 129)
Decrease in purchase of land creditors (29 875 197) -
Paid income taxes (79 753 302) (2 232 949)

Net cash flow (used in) available from  operating activities (49 850 448) 220 428 085

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Payments for purchase of fixed assets (5 691 687) (4 122 119)
Payments for projects in progress (64 093 057) (146 306 114)

Net cash (used in) investing activities (69 784 744) (150 428 233)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Paid for purchase of treasury shares - (51 640 333)
Paid dividends - (170 238 867)
Proceeds from treasury shares’ sale 57 681 385 -
Minorities’ share in capital increase - 60 771 830
Net cash flow available (used in) financing activities 57 681 385 (161 107 370)

Net cash & cash equivalent used during the year (61 953 807) (91 107 518)

Cash & cash equivalent as at January 1, 2009  371 172 352  462 279 870 

Cash & cash equivalent as at December 31, 2009 (9) 309 218 545 371 172 352

(*) The impact of transferring an amount of EGP 143 127 922  from projects in progress to fixed assets additions has been eliminated (Note-4) 
considering it as non cash transaction.

.The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements  ـ

Translated & Originally
Issued in Arabic

Translated & Originally
Issued in Arabic

The Consolidated Cash Flows Statement for the Company and its Subsidiaries
for the financial year from January 1, 2009 to December 31, 2009

1- General Background
(A) General

•	 Egyptian	Resorts	Company	-	Egyptian	joint	stock	Company	–	established	under	the	provisions	of	
Law No. 159 of 1981 and its executive regulations and also subject to the provisions of Law No. 
95 of 1992 and its executive regulations. The company was registered in the commercial register 
under No. 6514 on 24/4/1996.

•	 The	Company’s	duration	is	50	years	starting	from	the	date	of	registration	in	the	commercial	reg-
istry.

•	 The	 financial	 year	 for	 the	 company	 starts	 from	 January	 1st	 and	 ends	 at	 December	 31st	 each	
year.

•	 The	company’s	head	office	location	is	at	Sahl	Hasheesh	–	Hurghada	–	Red	Sea,	and	the	location	of	
the	company’s	branch	at	Cairo	Governorate	is	at	4	A	Aziz	Abaza	Street	–	Zamalek	–	Cairo.

•	 The	Chairman	of	the	board	of	directors	is	Mr.	Mahmoud	Abd	Allah	–	and	the	Managing	director	is	
Mr. Mohamed Ibrahim Kamel Abu Eloyoon (and the board of directors approved these financial 
statements on 09/03/2010). 

(B) Company’s purpose 
B-1 Egyptian Resorts Company

The purpose of the company is generally touristic constructions and establishing a complete tour-
istic	residential	compound	in	Sahl	Hasheesh	area	in	the	Red	Sea	City,	through	preparing	the	land	
and supplying the needed facilities and basic services; stations and networks for generating elec-
tricity, water treatment, sewage services, and roads to embark them for establishing a group of 
hostelry, touristic, residential and entertainment projects, whether by itself or by other parties.

B-2 Sahl Hasheesh Company for Touristic Investment
The purpose of the company is establishing 30 hostelry apartments consists of 200 rooms of a 
5 stars level, fully completed with its complementary utilities and entertainment services which 
are represented in restaurants, cafeterias, health club, swimming pools, tennis, golf, squash play-
grounds, entertainment hall and disco, meeting rooms, wedding halls, gardens and playgrounds 
for kids, entertainment center, medical unit, marine and all kinds of marine sports. Egyptian 
Resorts	Company	owns	69.38	%	of	Sahl	Hasheesh	Company	for	Touristic	Investment.
It	was	worth	mentioning	that	Sahl	Hasheesh	Company	for	touristic	investments	did	not	start	its	
activity yet.

(C) The company is listed on the Egyptian Stock Exchange.

2- Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements
2-1 Basis for preparation

A- Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Egyptian Account-
ing Standards and in the light of applicable Laws and regulations.

B- Basis of measurement
These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.

C- Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Egyptian pounds, which is the Compa-
ny’s and its subsidiaries functional currency.
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B- Subsequent costs 
The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the car-
rying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within 
the part will flow and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of 
property, plant and equipment are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

C- Depreciation 
Depreciation is recognized in income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated use-
ful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment. Land is not depreciated. The 
estimated useful lives for these assets are as follows: 

Buildings 50 years
Machinery & Equipments 10 years
Furniture & Fixtures 16 years
Vehicles 5 years
Computers 5 years
Water treatment station and deflation station
Structural works 30 years
Mechanical works 10 years
Water tank 30 years
Warehouses 30 years
Gateway 30 years
Sunken City 30 years
Lights & Marketing Signs 30 years
Networks & Facilities 10 years
Internal Road Networks 30 years

3-3 Projects in progress
Primary measurement: Projects in progress are recorded at cost. Cost includes all expenditures that 
are directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use and to the 
purpose in which it was acquired for.
Projects in progress are transferred to fixed assets as soon as these projects were finished and are 
ready for their intended use.
Projects in progress are evaluated on the balance sheet date deducted from it impairment losses 
–	if	any	(note	3-10).

3-4 Inventory 
Inventory is stated at cost or net realizable value whichever is lower. Net realizable value is rep-
resented in estimated sale price during the ordinary activity less the estimated completion cost 
and selling expenses, disbursed from inventory is valued using weighted average method. Cost 
includes all costs the company bears to purchase the inventory till reaching its site and its current 
position.

3-5 Work in progress
All costs related to the land value and the cost related to the work in progress are recorded in 
the work in progress account and at sale this account shall be deducted from the estimated cost 
account according to the actual cost of the meters sold. Work in progress is recorded at cost or the 
net realizable value whichever is lower in the consolidated balance sheet. 

D- Use of estimates and judgments 
- The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts 
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses and the estimates and assumptions related to them 
when applied are considered according to prior experience and acceptable other factors. The 
results of these assumptions and estimates represent the base for judgment on the net book 
values of assets and liabilities in a clearer way than any other source. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates. 

- The assumptions and estimates are reviewed periodically.
- Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised 

and in any future periods affected. 

2-2 Principles for consolidation of company’s and its subsidiaries financial statements
The attached consolidated financial statements include assets, liabilities and the results of Egyptian 
Resorts Company and its subsidiaries which is called a “group” in which the holding company con-
trols. The basis for preparation consolidated financial statements is as follows:
•	 All	balances	and	transactions	between	the	companies	of	the	group	were	eliminated.
•	 Minority	 interest	from	Owners’	equity	and	companies’	results	which	the	holding	company	con-

trols so it was classified in a separate item in the consolidated financial statements. The percent-
age of the minority interest in assets and liabilities of the subsidiary companies were computed 
when acquired.

•	 Cost	of	acquisition	was	classified	according	to	the	fair	value	of	owned	assets	and	liabilities	as	at	
acquisition date which is equivalent in value to the book value and in the limit of the percentage 
the holding company obtained on that date. 

3- Significant Accounting Policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
financial statements and these policies applied to the most recent annual financial statements issued.

3-1 Foreign currencies translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated based on prevailing exchange rates at the dates of 
the transactions. At the balance sheet date monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated to EGP as per the prevailing exchange rates on that date. Any differ-
ences resulting from translation are taken to the income statement.
More over the non monetary assets and liabilities which are stated at historical cost of the foreign 
currency are retranslated as per the prevailing exchange rate on the date of the transaction. 

3-2 Fixed assets and depreciation

A- Recognition and measurement 
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation 
(3-2-C) and impairment losses (3-10).
Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost 
of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labor, any other costs directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use, and the costs of 
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located.
When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 
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•	 Individually	significant	 financial	assets	are	tested	for	 impairment	on	an	 individual	basis.	The	
remaining financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk char-
acteristics. 

•	 All	impairment	losses	are	recognized	in	the	income	statement.	

•	 An	impairment	loss	is	reversed	if	the	reversal	can	be	related	objectively	to	an	event	occurring	
after the impairment loss was recognized for financial assets measured at amortized cost and 
financial assets considered as debt instrument  is recognized in the income statement. 

B- Non-financial assets
•	 The	carrying	amounts	of	the	non-financial	assets,	other	than	inventory	and	deferred	tax	assets	

are reviewed at the balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of impair-
ment. If any such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

•	 An	impairment	loss	is	recognized	if	the	carrying	amount	of	an	asset	or	its	cash-generating	unit	
exceeds its recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group 
that generates cash flows that largely are independent from other assets and groups. Impair-
ment losses are recognized in the income statement. 

 
•	 The	recoverable	amount	of	an	asset	or	cash-generating	unit	 is	the	greater	of	 its	value	in	use	

and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

 
•	 An	impairment	loss	is	reversed	if	there	has	been	a	change	in	the	estimates	used	to	determine	

the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s car-
rying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized. 

3-11 Provisions
A provision is recognized in the balance sheet when the Company has a legal or constructive obli-
gation as a result of past events, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.  If the effect is 
material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax to 
take such effect into consideration in which reflects the current estimate of the monetary value in 
the market and the risks related to this liability if it’s suitable.  Provisions are reviewed at each bal-
ance sheet date and adjusted, if required, to reflect the best current estimate.

3-12 Creditors and other credit balances
Creditors and other credit liabilities are recorded at cost.

3-13 Employees’ pension plan
The company contributes in the social insurance system for the benefit of employees according to 
law of Social Insurance Authority. The employer and the employees contribute in the system by a 
fixed percentage from salaries as per this law and the company’s liability is limited to this contribu-
tion. The company charges this contribution to the salaries and wages in the income statement 
according to the accrual basis.

The company concluded a contract with Ernst Body Corporate Management for providing consult-
ing and administrative services for the management of the resort, As the management decided to 
develop a model for managing the services rendered to the clients of the resort, which allows the 
company to obtain fees from clients  for services provided and for recovering the cost of managing 
the resort, which resulted in amending the accounting treatment of some work in process costs, 
and reclassifying them to projects in progress to be capitalized as fixed assets when completed 
,considering them as assets that provide services which will contribute in obtaining income in the 
future. This treatment has been made based on the company’s legal consultant’s opinion dated 
April 14, 2009 which stated the company’s eligibility charging clients with fees as long as the com-
pany implemented its contractual obligations towards them.

3-6 Estimated cost for development of sold land
The cost of development of sold land is recorded initially by the actual cost of the completed part 
in addition to estimated cost of the not completed part in order to reach the full cost of the accom-
plished of all the development and utilities works related to sold land for each phase separately, 
and it is restudied in the light of the technical study of the total estimated cost prepared annually 
by the technical department for each phase and approved by the project’s consultant.

Based on the aforementioned concerning the contract with Ernst Body Corporate Management for 
providing consulting and administrative services for the management of the community, the esti-
mated costs necessary to develop these phases have been modified based on the study prepared 
by the company’s experts in 2008.

3-7  Receivables, debtors and other debit balances
Receivables, debtors and other debit balances are stated at nominal value less any amounts 
expected to be uncollected which is estimated when its probable not to collect all the amount and 
the balances of receivables and debtors are reduced by the amount of bad debts when identified. 
These	balances	are	recorded	at	cost	less	impairment	losses	(note	no.	3-10),	Long	–term	receivables	
are measured by present value of expected cash flows which is computed by using actual return 
rate.

3-8  Cash flow statement
Cash flow statement is prepared according to indirect method.  

3-9 Cash and cash equivalent
For the purpose of preparing the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at 
banks and on hand, call deposits, balance of bank overdrafts that are pre-payable on demand and 
form an integral part of the company’s cash management.

3-10 Impairment
A- Financial assets

•	 A	financial	asset	is	considered	to	be	impaired	if	objective	evidence	indicates	that	one	or	more	
events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset. 

•	 An	 impairment	 loss	 in	 respect	of	 a	 financial	 asset	measured	at	 amortized	 cost	 is	 calculated	
as the difference between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
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3-19 Purchase of capital shares
The amounts paid for Company’s capital shares and all costs related are included in Shareholders’ 
equity as a change. Purchased shares are classified as treasury shares and to be presented deducted 
from total Shareholders’ equity.

3-20 Dividends
The dividends recorded as liability in the period they are declared.

3-21 Earnings per share
Earning per share is computed by dividing the profit or loss related to shareholders who represent 
their contribution in company’s capital over the weighted average of common stock shares out-
standing during the period.

3-22 Transactions with related parties
Transactions with related parties made by the company are recorded in accordance with the rules 
stated by the board of directors and by the same basis of dealing with others.

3-14 Revenue recognition
Activity’s revenues
Revenue from sales of land (through installments) is recognized in accordance with the contract 
terms and handing over to customers, under which the payment of the corresponding installments 
will be recognized at the cash sales price (without interest) as income on the date of sale. The cash 
sales price is determined by deducting the due installments by using appropriate discount rate to 
show the difference between the total sale price and the cash price deducted from the customers’ 
balances and is recognized as income over its accrual period.  Thus all land sold to customers are 
received with full utilities ready for construction.  

Financial investments’ Revenue
Investment revenue is recognized in income statement, when a company has the right to receive 
dividends from the companies invested in and is realized after the date of acquisition. 

Interest income
Interest income is recorded according to the accrual basis.

3-15 Expenses
Expenses are recognized on accrual basis.

3-16 Financial costs (net)
Financial costs include all debit and credit interests on the invested money in addition to the for-
eign exchange differences.

3-17 Interest expenses 
Interest expenses related to loans are charged to income statement using actual interest rate 
method.

3-18 Income Tax
Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is rec-
ognized in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in 
equity, in this case it is recognized in equity. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted 
at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the 
amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided is measured using tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits 
will be available against which the asset can be utilized. 

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at the balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized during the subsequent years.
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31/12/2009
EGP

Transportation vehicles 1 158 741
Machinery & equipments 230 392
Furniture 4 048
Buildings (Caravans) 82 831
Computers 1 327 891

2 803 903
Depreciations were classified as follows:
Depreciation of operating fixed assets 4 363 807
Depreciation of administrative fixed assets 1 322 132

5 685 939

5- Projects in Progress
The balance of this item shown in the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2009 represented 
as the follows:

31/12/2009
EGP

31/12/2008
EGP

Sahl Hasheesh Company
Land 31 479 030 31 479 030
Work processed by Sahl Hasheesh Company 46 045 508 33 054 934
Contractors’ advance payments 278 794 12 466

Egyptian Resorts Company
Public landscape & irrigation 21 568 249 14 609 299
Road networks 9 608 371 13 642 142
Electrical networks 159 465 11 723 723
Water Tank 500 m2 -- 53 423
Water Tank 6000 m2 3 784 6 219 091
Hydraulic works 772 367 65 374 364
Main gate & security housing 30 152 546 649
Admin building -- 560 501
Arrival Piazza 20 711 681 13 811 156
Pharonic gate -- 904 622
Sunken City 7 559 558 13 507 244
Employees Housing 8 701 112 5 516 518
Water Desalination plant 353 313 5 859 207
Board Walk 3 240 359 5 570 246
STP phase 2 & 3 -- 2 828 846
Water desalination plant Phase 3 49 365 --
Telecom Network 361 122 369 262
Marketing Signs & flags 458 165 3 071 013
Sundry projects in progress 758 685 2 463 190
Balance as at 31/12/2009 152 139 080 231 176 926

− Projects in progress are transferred to fixed assets as soon as it is completed.

4- Fixed assets
The balance of fixed assets (net) shown in the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2009 is repre-
sented as follows:-
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*  Fixed assets included assets which are fully depreciated, with costs amounting to EGP 2 803 903 as at 
December 31, 2009 as follows: 



48      ı   ANNUAL REPORT 2009

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the financial year ended December 31, 2009

ANNUAL REPORT 2009  ı       49    

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the financial year ended December 31, 2009

6-2 Second Phase Lands
-  The company rented the second phase’s lands 6 million meters as an extension to the touristic 

development of phase one,
-  On March 30, 2003 the company obtained an initial approval from the General Authority for touris-

tic development (Ministry of Tourism) to sell the area allocated from the touristic center for the sec-
ond phase (6 million m²). The balance of the work in progress includes an amount of EGP 46 134 750 
equivalents to USD 8 025 000 represented as follows:

USD EGP

- The value of second phase land (6 million m²) 7 500 000 43 125 000
- Allocation expenses 150 000 862 500
- contractual expenses 375 000 2 156 250

8 025 000   46 143 750

The estimated cost as at December 31, 2009 for the project’s second phase according to the study 
prepared by the company’s experts amounted to EGP 241 331 213 with estimated cost EGP 34.3147 
/ meter. And upon the sale of any of the project’s lands, 7.5% of the selling price is due to the 
authority with minimum payment EGP 11.25/meter according to the contracts, applying the prime 
minister’s decree No. 1026 of 2005 mentioned above in note (6-1) over the project’s second phase.

6-3  Third phase lands 
The company rented the third phase’s lands (20 million m²) as an extension to touristic develop-
ment of the first and second phase as per the main agreement with the Authority for Touristic 
Development on 24/10/1995.

On March17, 2005 the company communicated the General Authority for Touristic Development to 
issue a letter confirming the company’s rights in developing the project’s third phase and On March 
20, 2005 the Authority for Touristic Development replied that there are no restrictions on studying 
the company’s proposal as long as the company fulfills the terms of the contract and the authority 
will notify the company with the results of the study then, according to the authority’s letter dated 
February 26, 2007, the price of the meter was determined by USD 1.40/m.

And as per the geographical survey prepared by the expertise whom the company used during 
year 2008 in order to measure the total area of lands, the total area of the third phase amounted to 
28 312 296 m2.

And as per the geographical survey prepared by the company aforementioned, the cost of land pur-
chased from the Authority of Touristic Development amounted to USD 39 637 214 which is equiva-
lent	to	EGP	226	734	178.	This	cost	is	included	in	work	in	process	–	Phase	3,	knowing	that	there	are	no	
allocation contracts for phase 3 have been concluded because the company did not submit a master 
plan for this phase to the Authority of Touristic Development yet. Subsequently the company did 
not receive a final time schedule determining payment installments, its dates and its interests till this 
date. That master plan for this phase is currently being prepared by the company.

(**) Work in progress of the period included 50% of the Chief Executive Officer salary in return 
for	his	 technical	supervision	on	work	done	 in	Sahl	Hasheesh	at	Hurghada,	and	also	 included	the	
administrative consultancy costs of the representative of Ernst Body Corporate Management whom 
the company concluded a contract with for rendering consultancy and administrative services for 
management	of	Sahl	Hasheesh	Community.	

6- Work in Progress
The company concluded a contract with Ernst Body Corporate Management for providing consulting and 
administrative services for the management of the community, as the management decided to develop a 
model for managing the services rendered to the clients of the community, which allows the company to 
obtain fees from clients for services provided and for recovering the cost of managing the resort, which 
resulted in amending the accounting treatment of some work in process costs, and reclassifying them to 
projects in progress to be capitalized as fixed assets when completed, considering them as assets provide 
services which will contribute in obtaining income in future.
 
This treatment has been made based on the company’s legal consultant’s opinion dated April 14, 2009 
which stated the company’s eligibility charging clients with fees as long as the company implemented 
its contractual obligations towards them. Work in progress which has been reclassified and charged to 
projects	in	progress	amounted	to	EGP	127	385	507		as	at	December	31,	2008	(Note	–	6).

Based on the aforementioned concerning the contract with Ernst Body Corporate Management for pro-
viding consulting and administrative services for the management of the community, the estimated costs 
necessary to develop these phases have been modified based on the study prepared by the company’s 
experts in 2008.The cost per estimated square meter become EGP 22.36  and EGP 34.31 for both the 
first and second phases, respectively, instead of EGP 56.15 and EGP 40.91 for both the first and second 
phases respectively, while the cost per estimated square meter of the third phase amounted to EGP 55.27 
approximately, and we would like to draw your attention that there hasn’t been any sales from the lands 
of this phase yet, though the cost of the land formerly sold from phase 1 & 2 in prior years has been modi-
fied, the impact of this adjustment on the consolidated financial statements amounted to EGP 33 705 113 
as described above. And this amount has been charged to sundry income included in the consolidated 
income statement during 2008.

The actual cost for the work in process account shown in the consolidated balance sheet as at December 
31, 2009 is represented as follows:-

Balance as at 
31/12/2009

EGP

Balance as at 
31/12/2008

EGP
6-1 Cost of the project’s lands haven’t  been sold yet 1 403 041 m²- Phase 1 29 143 891 24 455 976
6-2 Cost of the project’s lands haven’t been sold yet 5 345 336 m²-Phase 2 79 166 220 68 660 798
6-3 Cost of project’s lands 28 312 296  million m² – Phase 3 265 115 930 258 101 800

373 426 041 351 218 574

6-1 The estimated cost for Phase 1 of the project as at December 31, 2009 according to the study pre-
pared by the company’s experts amounted to EGP 125 310 470 (with estimated cost EGP 22.3576 
/ meter. and upon the sale of any of the project’s lands, 7.5% of the selling price is due to the 
authority with minimum payment EGP 11.25 / meter according to the contracts.
According to the prime minister’s decree No. 1026 of 2005 published in the official gazette issue 
No.28	July	14,	2005	stating	that	the	lands	sold	for	the	purpose	of	constructing	a	touristic	project,	
USD 1.75 is due to the authority per meter sold.
The project’s first Phase is purchased from the Touristic development Authority.
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9- Cash on hand and at banks
This item shown in the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2009 is represented in the follow-
ing:-

31/12/2009
EGP

31/12/2008
EGP

Cash on hand 414 207 489 932
Banks – current accounts-EGP 51 612 021 33 600 416
Banks – current accounts-USD 44 631 776 44 147 044
Banks – current accounts-EURO 290 605 289 818
Banks-time deposits-EGP 173 082 909 251 122 125
Banks-time deposits-USD  39 187 027 39 313 197
Cheques under collection -- 2 209 820

309 218 545 371 172 352

(*) Time deposits at banks in EGP and USD are represented in time deposits due within three months.

10- Provision for Claims 
This item shown in the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2009 with an amount of  EGP 420 000 
out of which EGP 250 000 are formed to face the salaries tax inspection differences for year 2004.

11- Receivables Advance Payments 
Receivables advance payments shown in the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2009 are 
represented as follows:

EGP

A- Amounts received from some of the clients of the holding company as a reservation paid under the ac-
count of purchasing project’s lands and the company terminated a contract with one of the clients and 
paid him back the contracting advance payment amounting to USD 5 700 000 equivalent to EGP 
31 236 000 considering his delay in fulfilling his contractual obligations till this date and the legal proce-
dures concerning this matter are currently being undertaken.

31 672 250

B- Advance payments from receivables – rentals of Sahl Hasheesh company (subsidiary company) 1 981 014

33 653 264

12- Sundry Creditors & Other Credit Balances
The balance shown in the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2009 is represented in the fol-
lowing:

31/12/2009
EGP

31/12/2008
EGP

Sundry creditors 16 654 096 17 570 403
Contractors’ retention 6 443 179 6 880 790
Contractors & suppliers 550 347 --
Contractors-social insurance 3 359 474 2 974 738
Accrued expenses 588 208 275 363
Due to governmental authorities   7 042 698 5 261 210
Other credit balances 251 151 1 643 177
Unearned revenues 284 465 --
Villas’ maintenance deposits  1 148 063 1 148 062

36 321 681 35 753 743

7- Accounts & Notes Receivable (Net)
The balance of accounts & notes receivable shown in the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 
2009 is represented as follows:

7-1 Accounts & Notes receivable - short term (Net)
31/12/2009

EGP
31/12/2008

EGP

Land receivables- first phase 121 659 886 129 683 657
Land receivables- second phase 270 378 543 194 706 917
Villas receivables- first zone 4 865 538 5 286 145
Villas receivables- second zone 8 050 012 11 141 120
Services rendered - receivables 9 076 154 6 453 996

414 030 133 347 271 835
Less:  Deferred interests -Short term ( 3 514 312) (7 280 714)
Less:  Impairment in receivables (17 000 000) ( 11 000 000)

393 515 821 328 991 121

7-2 Accounts & Notes receivable (long term)
31/12/2009

EGP
31/12/2008

EGP
Land receivables- first phase 30 378 373 83 580 526
Land receivables- second phase 49 610 370 149 159 421
Villas receivables- first zone -- 678 744

79 988 743 233 418 691
Less:  Deferred interests – long term ( 6 027 854) ( 21 711 561)

73 960 889 211 707 130

8- Sundry Debtors & Other Debit Balances
The balance of sundry debtors & other debit balances shown in the consolidated balance sheet as at 
December 31, 2009 represented as follows:

31/12/2009
EGP

31/12/2008
EGP

Letters of guarantee covers 50 000 50 000
Cash imprests and loans 124 939 81 850
Prepaid expenses 744 023 655 193
Deposits with others 279 165 177 514
Accrued interests 505 187 1 154 383
Contractors (debit balances) 591 020 2 125 246
Sundry debtors 294 972 555 486
Tax withheld at source – Debit 15 788 4 582
Paid income tax for reversed sales 4 776 020 --
CEO current account 42 322 771 318

7 423 436 5 575 572
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•   Reduction of share’s nominal value
As per the decision of the Extraordinary General Assembly Meeting held on 23/12/2006 the nominal 
value of the share was amended to be EGP 1 instead of EGP 10 and the share was split to be ten shares 
though the number of issued and fully paid shares became 262 500 000 shares then issued and fully 
paid in capital amounted to EGP 262 500 000 distributed on 262 500 000 shares with nominal value 
EGP 1 for each share. There was annotation in the commercial register on 21/2/2007.

•   Authorized capital increase
As per the decision of the General Assembly Meeting held on April 11, 2007 all the members unani-
mously approved on the following:

•   Increase of the authorized capital which is EGP 700 000 000 (Seven hundard million Egyptian pounds) 
to become 2 000 000 000 (Two billion Egyptian pounds) and this was annotated in the commercial 
register on April 26, 2007.

•   Increase in Issued and Paid in capital
Increase in Issued and Paid in capital by retaining the shareholders share in dividends for the financial 
year ended 31/12/2006 under the account of increase of issued and paid in capital which amounted 
to EGP 175 000 000 (one hundred seventy five million Egyptian pounds) though the company’s issued 
and paid in capital became EGP 437 500 000 represented in 437 500 000 shares in which the nominal 
value of the share is EGP 1. There was annotation in the commercial register on 26/4/2007.

•   Increase in Issued and Paid in capital
Issued and paid in capital was increased by an amount of EGP 262.5 million (two hundred sixty two 
million and five hundred thousand Egyptian pounds) which was fully paid by the subscription of old 
shareholders in capital as per the decision of the board of directors on 25/3/2007.There was annota-
tion in the commercial register on 17/7/2007.
The share was issued by a nominal value of EGP 1 in addition to issuance premium of 25 piaster for 
each share. The total number of issued and subscribed shares is 262.5 million shares as per the cer-
tificate	from	Misr	Iran	Bank	dated	June	20,	2007.	There	was	annotation	in	the	commercial	register	on	
16/7/2007.
As per the decision of General Assembly Meeting held on 11/9/2007 there was a verification on the 
distribution project by an amount of EGP 140 million from the realized profits on the financial state-
ments	for	the	financial	period	for	six	months	ended	June	30,	2007	as	a	bonus	shares	for	shareholders	
and the board of directors was delegated to take the necessary procedures for capital increase in the 
limit of the authorized capital amounted to EGP  2 000 000 000 and the capital after this free increase 
became EGP 840 million. Articles 6 and 7 of the company’s articles of associations were amended by 
distributing one bonus share for each five outstanding share of issued capital which is amounted to 
EGP 700 million.  There was annotation in the commercial register on 27/11/2007.
As per the decision of General Assembly Meeting held on 24/4/2008 there was a verification on the dis-
tribution project by an amount of EGP 210 million from the realized profits on the financial statements 
for the financial year ended December 31, 2007 as a bonus shares for shareholders and the board of 
directors was delegated to take the necessary procedures for capital increase in the limit of the autho-
rized capital amounted to EGP 1 050 000 000. Articles 6 and 7 of the company’s articles of associations 
were amended by distributing one bonus share for each four outstanding share of issued capital which 
is amounted to EGP 840 million. There was annotation in the commercial register on 29/7/2008.
As per the board of directors meeting decision issued on 29/9/2008, the company decided to purchase 
25 million shares as a treasury shares. This purchase was done during October 2008 by an amount of 
EGP 51 640 333.

13- Due to the General Authority for Touristic Development
This item shown in the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2009 is represented as follows:

13-1 Dues to the authority – due within one year  

31/12/2009
EGP

31/12/2008
EGP

Accrued rent due to the authority for the third phase   891 971 899 222
Dues to the authority for the sale of the project’s land  24 988 351 22 866 133

25 880 322 23 765 355

13-2 Dues to the authority – Long Term
The classifications of the short and long term dues to the authority is according to the customers’ 
payments of the installments of the lands sold, thus the amounts due to the authority (long term) 
shown in the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2009 are as follows:

31/12/2009
EGP

31/12/2008
EGP

Due to General Authority for Touristic Development – Long Term 1 300 605 3 989 156

14- Capital
The company’s authorized capital amounted to EGP 700 000 000 (only seven hundred million Egyptian 
pounds) and the issued capital amounted to EGP 350 000 000 (only three hundred and fifty million Egyp-
tian pounds) divided over 3 500 000 share at par value of EGP 100, and the shareholders paid one fourth 
of the par value of the shares, the paid in capital amounted to EGP 210 000 000 (paid from the dividends 
declared by the General Assembly Meeting for the approved financial statements from 1999 till 2003) 
thus the amount paid from the share is EGP 60.

•   Reduction of the issued capital 
According to the extraordinary general assembly meeting dated 28/11/2004 it has unanimously agreed 
upon the following:

1- reducing the issued capital from EGP 350 millions to EGP 210 millions, by reducing the par value of 
the shares from EGP 100 to EGP 60 for the same number of shares (3.5 million share) accordingly 
the company’s issued capital is fully paid, to organize the company’s position according to the pro-
cedures and continuation of the registration of the stocks in the stock exchange market.

2- Splitting the par value of the shares from EGP 60 to EGP 10 then the number of shares will be 21 
million shares instead of 3.5 million shares, thus the company’s issued and fully paid in capital 
amounted to EGP 210 millions divided over 21 million shares at a par value of EGP 10. 

•   Increase of the issued and paid in capital
As per the decision of General Assembly Meeting held on 11/5/2006 and the decision of the company’s 
board of directors on 24/5/2006 which approved on retaining the shareholders share in dividends for 
the financial year ended 31/12/2005 under the account of increase of issued and paid in capital which 
amounted to EGP 52 500 000 (fifty two million five hundred thousand Egyptian pounds) which will be 
one free stock for each four owned stocks (these stocks amounted to 21 000 000) though the compa-
ny’s issued and paid in capital became EGP 262 500 000 represented in 26 250 000 shares in which the 
nominal value of the share is EGP 10.There was annotation in the commercial register on 18/7/2006.
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16- Net Sales and Costs of Sale 

16-1 Net sales
Company’s	activity	is	represented	in	one	main	sector	which	is	selling	lands	in	Sahl	Hasheesh,	Com-
pany’s net sales can be analyzed as follows:

From 1/1/2009 to 
31/12/2009

EGP

From 1/1/2008 to 
31/12/2008

EGP

Revenues from sale of land
Phase one - 46 378 685
Phase two - 262 938 868
Revenues from sale of villas *
First zone - -
Second zone - -
Total revenues from sale of land and villas - 309 317 553
Interest due from deferred interests 15 503 472 28 840 834
Total 15 503 472 338 158 387

(*)  Selling Villas was stopped as per the decision of the board of directors on 22/8/2007. Decision 
No. 43/2007.

16-2 Cost of land

From 1/1/2009 to 
31/12/2009

EGP

From 1/1/2008 to 
31/12/2008

EGP

Cost of land
Phase one -- 3 602 865
Phase two -- 12 042 215
Total -- 15 645 080

As per the approval of the Extraordinary General Assembly meeting held on October 4, 2009, the Board 
of Directors was empowered to dispose the purchased treasury shares amounted to 25 million shares 
considering that legally allowed period for keeping those shares has ended, though these shares have 
been re-offered for sale in the open market by one of the Securities’ Brokerage companies after notify-
ing the Chairman of the Investment Authority on October 5, 2009. The net sale of such shares during 
the period from October 8, 2009 until October 12, 2009 amounted to EGP 57 681 385 with an average 
sale price of EGP 2.31 / share, the gains from sale of treasury shares amounted to EGP 6 041 052.

15- Earnings per share
Earnings per share is computed using weighted average of number of the outstanding shares during the 
period as follows:

From 1/1/2009 to 
31/12/2009

EGP

From 1/1/2008 to 
31/12/2008

EGP

Net profit for the period ( 3 370 969) 265 809 811
Less:
Employees’ share in proposed appropriation profit -- --
Board of directors remuneration -- --

(*)Average number of shares during the period 1 031 250 000 1 031 250 000
Earnings per share EGP (0.004)/share EGP 0.26/share

Earnings per share was computed as follows:

1- Earnings per share was not affected by the share of employees and board of directors in profits as its 
being determined by the appropriation profit proposed by the board of directors at the end of the 
year and till being approved by the General Assembly Meeting.

2- Average number of outstanding shares for comparative period was computed as follows:
 The number of outstanding common stock shares were amended to be  1 031 250 000  shares after 

selling 25 million treasury stock share during year 2009  as if this event happened at the beginning of 
the financial period (1/1/2008) as per the Egyptian Accounting Standards. 
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The tax returns were submitted for years 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008 according to Law No.91 of 2005 
in the due dates. 

19-2 Salary tax
The salary tax for the company was inspected till year 2004 and there has been tax assessment and 
the tax due and delay penalties amounted to EGP 214 915 after deducting payments. This assess-
ment is as per form No.9 dated 14/6/2009

19-3 Sales tax
There has been an inspection from the date of activity’s inception till year 2007 by the Tax Authority 
and there has been an assessment and it has been paid.

19-4 Stamp tax
There has been an inspection from the date of activity’s inception till 31/7/2006 by the Tax Author-
ity and there has been an assessment and it has been paid.

19-5 Movable tax
There has been an inspection for the company’s books from the date of activity’s inception till year 
2004 by the Tax Authority for corporate companies and there has been an assessment and it has 
been paid.

Second: Tax position for the subsidiary company (Sahl Hasheesh for touristic investment) as per 
what was presented in the consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2009 which com-
plies with the tax system of Arab Republic of Egypt in practice

- The company is subject to the provisions of law no. 8/1997 related to the issuance of guaran-
tee and incentive investments law and its executive regulations. The company is exempted from 
corporate tax from 1/2/2008 till December 31, 2018 for the specified purpose mentioned in the 
company’s tax card.

- The tax inspection and the final assessment for the movable taxes and salary tax were made and 
the due amounts paid till year 2005.

- The company also submitted its tax returns for the years 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008.

17- Administrative and General Expenses

From 1/1/2009 to 
31/12/2009

EGP

From 1/1/2008
 to 31/12/2008

EGP

Salaries, wages and related expenses (*) 9 826 719 18 265 870
Consultancy & audit fees 890 594 350 745
Recruitment fees 126 524 473 819
Donations   100 000 108 932
Rentals 633 076 501 223
Stationary, printings & computer expenses 663 700 519 971
Telephone, Postage & Electricity   315 678 362 194
Employees’ training fund 71 261 3 255 385
Subscriptions 8 997 254 412
Traveling & transportation expenses 1 072 226 207 083
Others 2 991 181 2 150 530
Total  16 699 956 26 450 164

(*) Salaries, wages, allowances and its related included 50 % from salary of chief executive officer for the 
period and the other 50% has been charged to work in process considering that it is a direct cost on the 
projects.

18- Minority Interest
The balance shown in the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2009 is represented in their 
share in owners’ equity in the subsidiary company by the percentage of 31.56% as follows:

EGP

Balance as at 1/1/2009 77 899 579
Add:
Minority’s share in the profits of the financial year ended as at December 31, 2009 for the subsidiary 576 957
Balance as at December 31, 2009 78 476 536

19- Tax Position
First: Tax position for the holding company (Egyptian Resorts Company) as per what was presented 
in the consolidated financial statements which complies with the tax system of Arab Republic of 
Egypt in practice

The tax position of the company as at 31/12/2009 is represented in:

19-1 Corporate tax
The Company is subject to the provisions of tax law no. 157/1981 till the issuance of the new tax 
law no. 91/2005. The company enjoys income tax exemption for ten years starting from the first 
financial	 year	 subsequent	 to	 the	activity	 inception	on	 January	1,	1998	 till	December	31,	2007	 in	
application of the provisions of article no. 4 of law no. 143/1981 concerning desert land owned by 
the state.  This law was amended by Law No. 72/1996 with the same explanation which was stated 
previously in Law No. 59/1979 concerning the new urban communities. The company’s books were 
inspected by the Tax Authority of corporate companies since company’s activity inception till year 
2000 and there was an assessment as per the resolution of the appeal committee and tax due was 
fully paid. There was tax inspection for years from 2001 till 2004 and the company was informed 
by form (18) and the dispute was assigned to an internal committee by the Tax Authority which 
declared that there were no tax differences.
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20- Financial Instruments and Risk Management
The Company’s financial instruments are represented in financial assets (cash at banks and on hand, 
accounts & other notes receivables, debtors & debit balances) and the financial liabilities (creditors, 
receivables credit balances, purchase of land creditors, suppliers and contractors, other credit balances 
and banks over draft).

20-1 Fair Value
Fair value of the financial instruments reflects the reciprocal value of the asset or settlement of 
a liability between parties that have the desire and the capability to trade with a free will. The 
book value of the financial instruments as of the balance sheet date is almost equivalent to its fair 
value.

20-2 Foreign Currency Fluctuation Risk    
Foreign currency risk represents the risk of fluctuation in exchange rates, which in turn affects the 
company’s cash inflows and outflows in foreign currency as well as the value of its foreign mon-
etary assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial position the company has foreign currency 
assets & liabilities equivalent to EGP 530 060 582 and EGP 248 310 358 respectively. The Company’s 
net balances in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are as follows:-

SurplusForeign currencies
51 361 284USD

36 757Euro

    
20-3 Credit Risk

Credit risk is represented in the inability of customers who are offered credit to settle amounts due 
from them. But the company faces this risk by selecting customers with good reputation who have 
the ability to settle their obligations. The contracts of land sale in which the company conclude 
with its customers are preliminary contracts with keeping the ownership of the land till the custom-
ers settle the full value of the land.

21- Deferred Tax that results in an Asset (Liability)
The balance of deferred tax whether assets or liabilities is represented in:

31/12/2009
EGP

31/12/2008
EGP

Fixed assets (7 431 584) ( 829 208)
Net tax that results in Liability (7 431 584) ( 829 208)

Unrecognized deferred tax that results in an asset
The deferred tax that results in an asset is unrecognized for the following:

31/12/2009
EGP

31/12/2008
EGP

Temporary un-deductible tax differences (provisions) 3 484 000 2 284 000

22- Legal Reserve
As per the Company’s articles of associations 5 % of the net profit for the year is set aside to form 
the	legal	reserve	until	the	balance	reaches	50%	of	the	Company’s	paid–in	capital.		The	legal	reserve	
is used to cover any losses or to increase company’s capital.

23- Adjustments on Retained Earnings
The debit adjustments on retained earnings as at December 31, 2009 represented in the adjust-
ments resulted from canceling the revenue of selling some lands to one of the clients which were 
recorded during 2008 because of existence of some problems concerning fulfilling the obligations 
of the contract by the customer. The customer also did not pay the due installments until now. The 
revenues and costs related to this contract are illustrated as follows:

The debit effect 
on the retained 

earnings
EGP

Reverse of the sales recorded based on the contract 24 746 257
Reverse of the deferred interest income recorded during 2008 220 182
Reverse of the costs recorded based on the contract (1 302 552)
Reverse of the evaluation differences for the balance of this client in USD recorded in 2008 463 259
Reverse of the evaluation differences for the balance in USD due to Authority of touristic development for the plot 
of land sold which was recorded in 2008

(5 832)

Reverse 1% employee training fund related to net profit from this contract which was recorded in 2008 (241 212)
Reverse of the paid income tax  related to net profit from this contract (4 776 020)
The impact of these adjustments on the retained earnings (debit) 19 104 082

24- Capital Commitments
The capital commitments as at December 31, 2009 amounted to EGP 24 710 million represented in 
completing the current concluded contracts to establish the projects in progress.

25- Comparative figures
The comparative figures have been reclassified to comply with the classification of the figures in the 
financial statements as at December 31, 2009 without affecting the results.
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